THE QUAKER® INVESTMENT TRUST

2500 WESTON ROAD, SUITE 101 WESTON, FL 33331 (800) 220-8888

STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

October 2, 2018

This Statement of Additional Information pertains to the funds listed below, each of which is a separate series of Quaker Investment Trust (the "Trust"), an open-end investment management company. Each series of the Trust represents a separate portfolio of securities (each a "Fund" and collectively, the "Funds").

Fund/Class	Ticker Symbol	Fund/Class	Ticker <u>Symbol</u>
Quaker Small/Mid-Cap Impact Value Fund (formerly Quaker Small-Cap Value Fund) Advisor Class (formerly Class A) Institutional Class	QUSVX	Quaker Global Tactical Allocation Fund Advisor Class (formerly Class A) Institutional Class	QTRAX
Institutional Class	QSVIX	Institutional Class	QTRIX
Quaker Impact Growth Fund (formerly Quaker Strategic Growth Fund) Advisor Class	QUAGX	Quaker Mid-Cap Value Fund Advisor Class	QMCVX
(formerly Class A)	Q011011	(formerly Class A)	
Institutional Class	QAGIX	Institutional Class	QMVIX

This Statement of Additional Information, which should be kept for future reference, is not a prospectus. It should be read in conjunction with the Prospectus' of the Funds, dated October 2, 2018 ("Prospectus"). The Trust's 2018 Annual Report to Shareholders is incorporated by reference into this Statement of Additional Information.

You may obtain a copy of the Prospectus, the Annual Report to Shareholders and the Semi-Annual Report to Shareholders free of charge and make shareholder inquiries by writing to Quaker Investment Trust, c/o U.S. Bank Global Fund Services, P.O. Box 701, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53201-0701, or by calling 800-220-8888.

INVESTMENTS IN THE FUNDS INVOLVE INVESTMENT RISKS, INCLUDING THE POSSIBLE LOSS OF PRINCIPAL.

Investment Company Act No. 811-06260

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FUND HISTORY	3
INVESTMENT STRATEGIES, RESTRICTIONS AND RISKS	3
INVESTMENT STRATEGIES	3
When-Issued Securities and Delayed-Delivery Transactions	13
INVESTMENT RESTRICTIONS	
Fundamental Investment Restrictions	13
Non-Fundamental Investment Restrictions	14
PORTFOLIO TURNOVER	14
VALUATION OF INDIVIDUAL PORTFOLIO HOLDINGS	15
DISCLOSURE OF PORTFOLIO HOLDINGS	15
MANAGEMENT OF THE TRUST	16
BOARD OF TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS	16
Trustees' Qualifications	19
Ownership of Fund Shares by Trustees	19
COMPENSATION OF TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS	
Compensation of Trustees	20
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD	20
Audit Committee	21
Nominating Committee	21
GOVERNANCE AND RISK DISCUSSION	21
Board Leadership	21
Risk Oversight	
INVESTMENT ADVISORY AND OTHER SERVICES	23
INVESTMENT ADVISER	
PORTFOLIO MANAGERS	24
PRINCIPAL UNDERWRITER AND PLANS OF DISTRIBUTION	26
Distributor	26
Distribution Plan (Rule 12b-1 Plan)	27
Shareholder Servicing Fees	28
CUSTODIAN	29
TRANSFER AGENT AND ADMINISTRATOR	30
LEGAL COUNSEL	30
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	30
CODES OF ETHICS	31
REPORTS TO SHAREHOLDERS	31
BROKERAGE ALLOCATION	
AFFILIATED BROKERAGE TRANSACTIONS	32
SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION	32
PURCHASES AND SALES THROUGH BROKERS	33
REDEEMING SHARES	33
Redemptions In-Kind	33
NET ASSET VALUE, DIVIDENDS AND TAXES	33
NET ASSET VALUE	33
Suspension of the Determination of Net Asset Value	33
DIVIDENDS AND TAXES	
Taxation of the Funds	34

	Taxation of Fund Distributions	37
	Distributions of Net Investment Income	37
	Distributions of Capital Gains	37
	Returns of Capital	37
	Qualified Dividend Income for Individuals	37
	Dividends-Received Deduction for Corporations	38
	Qualified REIT dividends.	
	Impact of Realized but Undistributed Income and Gains, and Net Unrealized Appreciation of	of
	Portfolio Securities	38
	Pass-Through of Foreign Tax Credits	38
	U.S. Government Securities	39
	Dividends Declared in December and Paid in January	39
	Medicare Tax	39
	Sales, Exchanges and Redemptions of Fund Shares	39
	Tax Basis Information	39
	Tax Treatment of Portfolio Transactions	
	Backup Withholding	47
	Non-U.S. Investors	
P	ERFORMANCE INFORMATION	50
D	ESCRIPTION OF SHARES	50
F	INANCIAL STATEMENTS	50
Р	RINCIPAL HOLDERS OF SECURITIES	50

FUND HISTORY

The Quaker Investment Trust (the "Trust") was originally organized as a Massachusetts business trust on October 24, 1990 and was reorganized as a Delaware statutory trust on September 30, 2018. The Trust is an openend investment company with four (4) series: Quaker Impact Growth Fund (formerly Quaker Strategic Growth Fund), Quaker Small/Mid-Cap Impact Value Fund (formerly Quaker Small-Cap Value Fund), Quaker Mid-Cap Value Fund, and Quaker Global Tactical Allocation Fund, (each a "Fund", and together, the "Funds"). Each Fund is "diversified," which means that at least 75% of each Fund's total assets is represented by cash and cash items (including receivables), government securities, securities of other investment companies, and other securities for the purposes of this calculation limited in respect of any one issuer to an amount not greater in value than 5% the value of the total assets of such management company and to not more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer.

INVESTMENT STRATEGIES, RESTRICTIONS AND RISKS

The investment objective and strategies of each Fund are described in the Prospectus under the "Investment Objectives, Strategies, Risks and Portfolio Holdings" heading. Set forth below is additional information with respect to the investment policies of each Fund.

The Funds are not intended as vehicles for trading in the futures, commodity options or swaps markets. With respect to the Funds, the Funds' adviser, Community Capital Management, Inc. (the "Adviser"), has claimed an exclusion from the definition of "commodity pool operator ("CPO") and "commodity trading advisor" ("CTA") under the Commodity Exchange Act ("CEA") and the rules of the Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC") and, therefore, is not subject to CFTC registration or regulation as a CPO. In addition, the Adviser is relying upon a related exclusion from the definition of CTA under the CEA and the rules of the CFTC. The CFTC has neither reviewed nor approved the Adviser's reliance on these exclusions, or the Fund, its investment strategies or the Prospectus and this Statement of Additional Information ("SAI").

INVESTMENT STRATEGIES

In addition to the primary investment securities in which each Fund invests as set forth in the Prospectus, each Fund may also invest in the following, to the extent that such investments do not violate an investment restriction described in the Prospectus or this SAI:

American Depositary Receipts (ADRs). ADRs as well as other "hybrid" forms of ADRs, including European Depositary Receipts (EDRs) and Global Depositary Receipts (GDRs), are certificates evidencing ownership of shares of a foreign issuer. Depositary receipts may be sponsored or unsponsored. These certificates are issued by depository banks and generally trade on an established market in the United States or elsewhere. The underlying shares are held in trust by a custodian bank or similar financial institution in the issuer's home country. The depository bank may not have physical custody of the underlying securities at all times and may charge fees for various services, including forwarding dividends and interest and corporate actions. ADRs are alternatives to directly purchasing the underlying foreign securities in their national markets and currencies. However, ADRs continue to be subject to many of the risks associated with investing directly in foreign securities.

Investments in the securities of foreign issuers may subject the Funds to investment risks that differ in some respects from those related to investments in securities of U.S. issuers. Such risks include future adverse political and economic developments, possible imposition of withholding taxes on income, possible seizure, nationalization or expropriation of foreign deposits, possible establishment of exchange controls or taxation at the source or greater fluctuation in value due to changes in exchange rates. Foreign issuers of securities often engage in business practices different from those of domestic issuers of similar securities, and there may be less information publicly available about foreign issuers. In addition, foreign issuers are, generally speaking, subject to less government supervision and regulation and different accounting treatment than are those in the United States.

Although the two types of depositary receipt facilities (unsponsored or sponsored) are similar, there are differences regarding a holder's rights and obligations and the practices of market participants. A depository may establish an

unsponsored facility without participation by (or acquiescence of) the underlying issuer; typically, however, the depository requests a letter of non-objection from the underlying issuer prior to establishing the facility. Holders of unsponsored depositary receipts generally bear all the costs of the facility. The depository usually charges fees upon the deposit and withdrawal of the underlying securities, the conversion of dividends into U.S. dollars or other currency, the disposition of non-cash distributions, and the performance of other services. The depository of an unsponsored facility frequently is under no obligation to distribute shareholder communications received from the underlying issuer or to pass through voting rights to depositary receipt holders with respect to the underlying securities.

Sponsored depositary receipt facilities are created in generally the same manner as unsponsored facilities, except that sponsored depositary receipts are established jointly by a depository and the underlying issuer through a deposit agreement. The deposit agreement sets out the rights and responsibilities of the underlying issuer, the depository, and the depositary receipt holders. With sponsored facilities, the underlying issuer typically bears some of the costs of the depositary receipts (such as dividend payment fees of the depository), although most sponsored depositary receipts holders may bear costs such as deposit and withdrawal fees. Depositories of most sponsored depositary receipts agree to distribute notices of shareholder meetings, voting instructions, and other shareholder communications and information to the depositary receipt holders at the underlying issuer's request.

Borrowing. The Funds may borrow money, but have no current intention to do so. The Funds may borrow money to facilitate management of the Funds' portfolio by enabling them to meet redemption requests when the liquidation of portfolio instruments would be inconvenient or disadvantageous. Such borrowing is not for investment purposes and the Funds will seek to repay such borrowings promptly.

As required by the 1940 Act, the Funds must maintain continuous asset coverage (total assets, including assets acquired with borrowed funds, less liabilities exclusive of borrowings) of 300% of all amounts borrowed. If, at any time, the value of a Fund's assets should fail to meet this 300% coverage test, the Fund, within three days (not including Sundays and holidays), will reduce the amount of its borrowings to the extent necessary to meet this 300% coverage. Maintenance of this percentage limitation may result in the sale of portfolio securities at a time when investment considerations otherwise indicate that it would be disadvantageous to do so.

In addition to the foregoing, the Funds are authorized to borrow money as a temporary measure for extraordinary or emergency purposes in amounts not in excess of 5% of the value of a Fund's total assets. This borrowing is not subject to the foregoing 300% asset coverage requirement. The Funds are authorized to pledge portfolio securities as the Adviser deems appropriate in connection with any borrowings.

Borrowing may subject the Funds to interest costs, which may exceed the interest received on the securities purchased with the borrowed funds. The Funds may borrow at times to meet redemption requests rather than sell portfolio securities to raise the necessary cash. Borrowing can involve leveraging when securities are purchased with the borrowed money. The use of leverage can amplify the effects of market volatility on a Fund's share price and make the Fund's returns more volatile because leverage tends to exaggerate the effect of any increase or decrease in the value of the Fund's portfolio securities. The use of leverage may also cause a Fund to liquidate portfolio positions when it would not be advantageous to do so in order to satisfy its obligations.

Derivatives. The Funds may invest in options and other derivative securities. Generally, an option contract gives the purchaser the right to acquire (call option) or sell (put option) a security at a predetermined price. Similarly, the seller/writer of an option contract may be obliged to sell (call option) or buy (put option) a security at a predetermined price. An option involves either: (a) the right or the obligation to buy or sell a specific instrument at a specific price until the expiration date of the option; or (b) the right to receive payments or the obligation to make payments representing the difference between the closing price of a stock index and the exercise price of the option expressed in dollars times a specified multiple until the expiration date of the option. Options are sold (written) on securities and stock indexes. The purchaser of an option on a security pays the seller (the writer) a premium for the right granted but is not obligated to buy or sell the underlying security. The purchaser of an option on a stock index pays the seller a premium for the right granted, and in return the seller of such an option is obligated to make the payment. A writer of an option may terminate the obligation prior to expiration of the option by making an offsetting purchase of an identical option. Options are traded on organized exchanges and in the over-the-counter

market. To cover the potential obligations involved in writing options, a Fund will either: (a) own the underlying security, or in the case of an option on a market index, will hold a portfolio of stocks substantially replicating the movement of the index; or (b) the Fund will segregate with the custodian high grade liquid debt obligations sufficient to purchase the underlying security or equal to the market value of the stock index option, marked to market daily.

The purchase and writing of options requires additional skills and techniques beyond normal portfolio management, and involves certain risks. The purchase of options limits a Fund's potential loss to the amount of the premium paid and can afford the Fund the opportunity to profit from favorable movements in the price of an underlying security to a greater extent than if transactions were effected in the security directly. However, the purchase of an option could result in a Fund losing a greater percentage of its investment than if the transaction were effected directly. When a Fund writes a call option, it will receive a premium, but it will give up the opportunity to profit from a price increase in the underlying security above the exercise price as long as its obligation as a writer continues. It also will retain the risk of loss should the price of the security decline. When a Fund writes a put option, it will assume the risk that the price of the underlying security or instrument will fall below the exercise price, in which case the Fund may be required to purchase the security or instrument at a higher price than the market price of the security or instrument. In addition, there can be no assurance that a Fund can effect a closing transaction on a particular option it has written. Further, the total premium paid for any option may be lost if a Fund does not exercise the option or, in the case of over-the-counter options, the writer does not perform its obligations.

To hedge against changes in securities prices or interest rates, the Funds may purchase and sell various kinds of futures contracts, and purchase and write call and put options on such futures contracts. Permissible futures contracts investments are limited to futures on various equity securities and other financial instruments and indices. A Fund will engage in futures and related options transactions for bona-fide hedging or other non-hedging purposes as permitted by regulations of the CFTC.

Equity Securities. As part of its principal investment strategies, each Fund invests in equity securities, primarily common stocks. Equity securities represent ownership interests in a company and consist of common stocks, preferred stocks, warrants to acquire common stock, and securities convertible into common stock. Investments in equity securities in general are subject to market risks that may cause their prices to fluctuate over time. Fluctuations in the value of equity securities in which a fund invests will cause the net asset value ("NAV") of a fund to fluctuate. Equity securities are described in more detail below:

- Common Stock. As part of its principal investment strategies, a Fund invests in common stock. Common stock represents an equity or ownership interest in an issuer. In the event an issuer is liquidated or declares bankruptcy, the claims of owners of bonds and preferred stock take precedence over the claims of those who own common stock.
- **Preferred Stock.** Preferred stock represents an equity or ownership interest in an issuer that pays dividends at a specified rate and that has precedence over common stock in the payment of dividends. In the event an issuer is liquidated or declares bankruptcy, the claims of owners of bonds take precedence over the claims of those who own preferred and common stock.
- Warrants. Warrants are instruments that entitle the holder to buy an equity security at a specific price for a specific period of time. Changes in the value of a warrant do not necessarily correspond to changes in the value of its underlying security. The price of a warrant may be more volatile than the price of its underlying security, and a warrant may offer greater potential for capital appreciation as well as capital loss. Warrants do not entitle a holder to dividends or voting rights with respect to the underlying security and do not represent any rights in the assets of the issuing company. A warrant ceases to have value if it is not exercised prior to its expiration date. These factors can make warrants more speculative than other types of investments.
- Convertible Securities. Convertible securities are bonds, debentures, notes, preferred stocks or other securities that may be converted or exchanged (by the holder or by the issuer) into shares of the underlying common stock (or cash or securities of equivalent value) at a stated exchange ratio. A convertible security may also be called for redemption or conversion by the issuer after a particular date

and under certain circumstances (including a specified price) established upon issue. If a convertible security held by a Fund is called for redemption or conversion, the Fund could be required to tender it for redemption, convert it into the underlying common stock, or sell it to a third party.

Convertible securities generally have less potential for gain or loss than common stocks. Convertible securities generally provide yields higher than the underlying common stocks, but generally lower than comparable nonconvertible securities. Because of this higher yield, convertible securities generally sell at a price above their "conversion value," which is the current market value of the stock to be received upon conversion. The difference between this conversion value and the price of convertible securities will vary over time depending on changes in the value of the underlying common stocks and interest rates. When the underlying common stocks decline in value, convertible securities will tend not to decline to the same extent because of the interest or dividend payments and the repayment of principal at maturity for certain types of convertible securities. However, securities that are convertible other than at the option of the holder generally do not limit the potential for loss to the same extent as securities convertible at the option of the holder. When the underlying common stocks rise in value, the value of convertible securities may also be expected to increase. At the same time, however, the difference between the market value of convertible securities and their conversion value will narrow, which means that the value of convertible securities will generally not increase to the same extent as the value of the underlying common stocks. Because convertible securities may also be interest-rate sensitive, their value may increase as interest rates fall and decrease as interest rates rise. Convertible securities are also subject to credit risk, and are often lower-quality securities.

• Micro, Small and Mid Cap Issuers. A Fund may invest in micro, small and mid cap issuers. Investing in equity securities of micro, small and mid cap companies often involves greater risk than is customarily associated with investments in companies with larger capitalizations. This increased risk may be due to the greater business risks of smaller size, limited markets and financial resources, narrow product lines and frequent lack of depth of management. The securities of smaller companies are often traded in the over-the-counter market and even if listed on a national securities exchange the trading market (i.e., the volume of trades on any given day) for such securities may be less active than larger companies listed on that exchange. Consequently, the securities of these companies may be less liquid, may have limited market stability, and may be subject to more abrupt or erratic market movements than securities of larger, more established growth companies or the market averages in general. As a result, the prices of the smaller companies owned by a Fund may be volatile, and the price movements of the Fund's shares will reflect that volatility.

Foreign Securities. The Quaker Impact Growth Fund, Quaker Mid-Cap Value Fund and Quaker Small/Mid-Cap Impact Value Fund may each invest up to 25% of their net assets in foreign securities. The Quaker Global Tactical Allocation Fund may invest without limit in foreign securities. There are substantial risks associated with investing in the securities of governments and companies located in, or having substantial operations in, foreign countries, which are in addition to the usual risks inherent in domestic investments. The value of foreign securities (like U.S. securities) is affected by general economic conditions and individual issuer and industry earnings prospects. Investments in depositary receipts also involve some or all of the risks described below.

There is the possibility of cessation of trading on foreign exchanges, expropriation, nationalization of assets, confiscatory or punitive taxation, withholding and other foreign taxes on income or other amounts, foreign exchange controls (which may include suspension of the ability to transfer currency from a given country), restrictions on removal of assets, political or social instability, military action or unrest, or diplomatic developments that could affect investments in securities of issuers in foreign nations. There is no assurance that the investment manager will be able to anticipate these potential events. In addition, the value of securities denominated in foreign currencies and of dividends and interest paid with respect to such securities will fluctuate based on the relative strength of the U.S. dollar.

There may be less publicly available information about foreign issuers comparable to the reports and ratings published about issuers in the U.S. Foreign issuers generally are not subject to uniform accounting or financial reporting standards. Auditing practices and requirements may not be comparable to those applicable to U.S. issuers. Certain countries' legal institutions, financial markets and services are less developed than those in the U.S. or other major economies. A Fund may have greater difficulty voting proxies, exercising shareholder rights, securing

dividends and obtaining information regarding corporate actions on a timely basis, pursuing legal remedies, and obtaining judgments with respect to foreign investments in foreign courts than with respect to domestic issuers in U.S. courts. The costs associated with foreign investments, including withholding taxes, brokerage commissions, and custodial costs, are generally higher than with U.S. investments.

Certain countries require governmental approval prior to investments by foreign persons, or limit the amount of investment by foreign persons in a particular company. Some countries limit the investment of foreign persons to only a specific class of securities of an issuer that may have less advantageous terms than securities of the issuer available for purchase by nationals. Although securities subject to such restrictions may be marketable abroad, they may be less liquid than foreign securities of the same class that are not subject to such restrictions. In some countries the repatriation of investment income, capital and proceeds of sales by foreign investors may require governmental registration and/or approval. A Fund could be adversely affected by delays in or a refusal to grant any required governmental registration or approval for repatriation.

From time to time, trading in a foreign market may be interrupted. Foreign markets also have substantially less volume than the U.S. markets and securities of some foreign issuers are less liquid and more volatile than securities of comparable U.S. issuers. A Fund, therefore, may encounter difficulty in obtaining market quotations for purposes of valuing its portfolio and calculating its NAV.

In many foreign countries there is less government supervision and regulation of stock exchanges, brokers, and listed companies than in the U.S., which may result in greater potential for fraud or market manipulation. Foreign over-the-counter markets tend to be less regulated than foreign stock exchange markets and, in certain countries, may be totally unregulated. Brokerage commission rates in foreign countries, which generally are fixed rather than subject to negotiation as in the U.S., are likely to be higher. Foreign security trading, settlement and custodial practices (including those involving securities settlement where assets may be released prior to receipt of payment) are often less developed than those in U.S. markets, may be cumbersome, and may result in increased risk or substantial delays. This could occur in the event of a failed trade or the insolvency of, or breach of duty by, a foreign broker/dealer, securities depository, or foreign subcustodian.

The holding of foreign securities may be limited by a Fund to avoid investment in certain Passive Foreign Investment Companies ("PFICs") and the imposition of a PFIC tax on a Fund resulting from such investments. See, "Tax Treatment of Portfolio Transactions – PFIC Investments" below.

Developing markets or emerging markets. Investments in companies domiciled or with significant operations in developing market or emerging market countries may be subject to potentially higher risks than investments in developed countries. These risks include, among others (i) less social, political, and economic stability; (ii) smaller securities markets with low or nonexistent trading volume, which result in greater illiquidity and greater price volatility; (iii) certain national policies which may restrict a Fund's investment opportunities, including restrictions on investment in issuers or industries deemed sensitive to national interests; (iv) foreign taxation, including less transparent and established taxation policies; (v) less developed regulatory or legal structures governing private or foreign investment or allowing for judicial redress for injury to private property; (vi) the absence, until recently in many developing market countries, of a capital market structure or market-oriented economy; (vii) more widespread corruption and fraud; (viii) the financial institutions with which a Fund may trade may not possess the same degree of financial sophistication, creditworthiness, or resources as those in developed markets; and (ix) the possibility that recent favorable economic developments in some developing market countries may be slowed or reversed by unanticipated economic, political, or social events in such countries.

In addition, many developing market countries have experienced substantial, and during some periods, extremely high rates of inflation, for many years. Inflation and rapid fluctuations in inflation rates have had, and may continue to have, negative effects on the economies and securities markets of certain countries. Moreover, the economies of some developing market countries may differ unfavorably from the U.S. economy in such respects as growth of gross domestic product, rate of inflation, currency depreciation, debt burden, capital reinvestment, resource self-sufficiency, and balance of payments position. The economies of some developing market countries may be based on only a few industries, and may be highly vulnerable to changes in local or global trade conditions.

Settlement systems in developing market countries may be less organized than in developed countries. Supervisory authorities may also be unable to apply standards which are comparable with those in more developed countries. There may be risks that settlement may be delayed and that cash or securities belonging to a Fund may be in jeopardy because of failures of or defects in the settlement systems. Market practice may require that payment be made prior to receipt of the security which is being purchased or that delivery of a security must be made before payment is received. In such cases, default by a broker or bank (the "counterparty") through whom the relevant transaction is effected might result in a loss being suffered by a Fund. A Fund seeks, where possible, to use counterparties whose financial status reduces this risk. However, there can be no certainty that a Fund will be successful in eliminating or reducing this risk, particularly as counterparties operating in developing market countries frequently lack the substance, capitalization, and/or financial resources of those in developed countries. Uncertainties in the operation of settlement systems in individual markets may increase the risk of competing claims to securities held by or to be transferred to a Fund. Legal compensation schemes may be non-existent, limited or inadequate to meet a Fund's claims in any of these events.

Securities trading in developing markets presents additional credit and financial risks. A Fund may have limited access to, or there may be a limited number of, potential counterparties that trade in the securities of developing market issuers. Governmental regulations may restrict potential counterparties to certain financial institutions located or operating in the particular developing market. Potential counterparties may not possess, adopt or implement creditworthiness standards, financial reporting standards, or legal and contractual protections similar to those in developed markets. Currency and other hedging techniques may not be available or may be limited.

The local taxation of income and capital gains accruing to non-residents varies among developing market countries and may be comparatively high. Developing market countries typically have less well-defined tax laws and procedures and such laws may permit retroactive taxation so that a Fund could in the future become subject to local tax liabilities that had not been anticipated in conducting its investment activities or valuing its assets.

Many developing market countries suffer from uncertainty and corruption in their legal frameworks. Legislation may be difficult to interpret and laws may be too new to provide any precedential value. Laws regarding foreign investment and private property may be weak or non-existent. Investments in developing market countries may involve risks of nationalization, expropriation, and confiscatory taxation. For example, the Communist governments of a number of Eastern European countries expropriated large amounts of private property in the past, in many cases without adequate compensation, and there can be no assurance that similar expropriation will not occur in the future. In the event of expropriation, a Fund could lose all or a substantial portion of any investments it has made in the affected countries. Accounting, auditing and reporting standards in certain countries in which a Fund may invest may not provide the same degree of investor protection or information to investors as would generally apply in major securities markets. In addition, it is possible that purported securities in which a Fund invested may subsequently be found to be fraudulent and as a consequence a Fund could suffer losses.

Finally, currencies of developing market countries are subject to significantly greater risks than currencies of developed countries. Some developing market currencies may not be internationally traded or may be subject to strict controls by local governments, resulting in undervalued or overvalued currencies and associated difficulties with the valuation of assets, including a Fund's securities, denominated in that currency. Some developing market countries have experienced balance of payment deficits and shortages in foreign exchange reserves. Governments have responded by restricting currency conversions. Future restrictive exchange controls could prevent or restrict a company's ability to make dividend or interest payments in the original currency of the obligation (usually U.S. dollars). In addition, even though the currencies of some developing market countries, such as certain Eastern European countries, may be convertible into U.S. dollars, the conversion rates may be artificial to the actual market values and may be adverse to a Fund's shareholders.

Fixed Income Securities. A Fund may invest in fixed-income securities. Fixed-income securities consist of bonds, notes debentures and other interest-bearing securities that represent indebtedness. The market value of the fixed-income investments in which a Fund invests will change in response to interest rate changes and other factors. During periods of falling interest rates, the values of outstanding fixed-income securities generally rise. Conversely, during periods of rising interest rates, the values of such securities generally decline. Moreover, while securities with longer maturities tend to produce higher yields, the prices of longer maturity securities are also generally

subject to greater market fluctuations as a result of changes in interest rates. Changes by recognized agencies in the rating of any fixed-income security and in the ability of an issuer to make payments of interest and principal also affect the value of these investments. Changes in the value of these securities will not necessarily affect cash income derived from these securities but will affect a Fund's net asset value.

Lower Quality Fixed Income Securities ("Junk bonds"). A Fund may purchase lower quality debt securities, or unrated debt securities, that have poor protection of payment of principal and interest. These securities, commonly referred to as "junk bonds," often are considered to be speculative and involve greater risk of default and of price changes due to changes in the issuer's creditworthiness. Market prices of these securities may fluctuate more than higher quality debt securities and may decline significantly in periods of general economic difficulty that may follow periods of rising rates. While the market for junk bonds has been in existence for many years and has weathered previous economic downturns, the market in recent years has experienced a dramatic increase in the large-scale use of such securities to fund highly leveraged corporate acquisitions and restructurings. Accordingly, past experience may not provide an accurate indication of future performance of the junk bond market, especially during periods of economic recession. A Fund may invest in securities which are of lower quality or are unrated if the Adviser determines that the securities provide the opportunity of meeting a Fund's objective without presenting excessive risk. The Adviser will consider all factors, which it deems appropriate, including ratings, in making investment decisions for a Fund and will attempt to minimize investment risks through diversification, investment analysis and monitoring of general economic conditions and trends. To the extent that a Fund invests in lower quality securities, achievement of its investment objective may be more dependent on the Adviser's credit analyses than is the case for higher quality bonds. While the Adviser may refer to ratings, it does not rely exclusively on ratings, but makes its own independent and ongoing review of credit quality.

The market for lower quality securities may be thinner and less active than that for higher quality securities, which can adversely affect the prices at which these securities can be sold. If there is not an established retail secondary market and market quotations are not available, these securities are valued in accordance with procedures established by the Board of Trustees, including the use of outside pricing services. Judgment plays a greater role in valuing junk bonds than is the case for securities for which external sources for quotations and last-sale information are available. Adverse publicity and changing investor perceptions may affect the ability of outside pricing services used by a Fund to value these securities, and a Fund's ability to dispose of these lower quality debt securities.

Lower quality securities present risks based on payment expectations. For example, junk bonds may contain redemption or call provisions. If an issuer exercises the provisions in a declining interest rate market, a Fund would have to replace the security with a lower yielding security, resulting in a decreased return for investors. Conversely, a junk bond's value will decrease in a rising interest rate market, as will the value of a Fund's assets. If a Fund experiences unexpected net redemptions, this may force it to sell its junk bonds, without regard to their investment merits, thereby decreasing the asset base upon which a Fund's expenses can be spread and possibly reducing a Fund's rate of return.

Since the risk of default is higher for lower quality securities and sometimes increases with the age of these securities, the Adviser's research and credit analysis are an integral part of managing any securities of this type held by a Fund. In considering investments for a Fund, the Adviser attempts to identify those issuers of high-yielding securities whose financial condition is adequate to meet future obligations and has improved or is expected to improve in the future. The Adviser's analysis focuses on relative values based on such factors as interest or dividend coverage, asset coverage, earning prospects, and the experience and managerial strength of the issuer.

Illiquid Securities. A Fund will not invest more than 10% of its net assets in illiquid securities. Illiquid securities are securities that cannot be sold or disposed of in the ordinary course of business (within seven days) at approximately the prices at which they are valued. Because of their illiquid nature, illiquid securities must be priced at fair value as determined in good faith pursuant to procedures approved by the Funds' Board of Trustees. Despite such good faith

efforts to determine fair value prices, a Fund's illiquid securities are subject to the risk that the security's fair value price may differ from the actual price which the Fund may ultimately realize upon its sale or disposition. Difficulty in selling illiquid securities may result in a loss or may be costly to a Fund. Under the supervision of the Board, the Adviser determines the liquidity of a Fund's investments. In determining the liquidity of the Fund's investments, the Adviser may consider various factors, including (1) the frequency and volume of trades and quotations; (2) the number of dealers and prospective purchasers in the marketplace; (3) dealer undertakings to make a market; and (4) the nature of the security and the market in which it trades (including any demand, put or tender features, the mechanics and other requirements for transfer, any letters of credit or other credit enhancement features, any ratings, the number of holders, the method of soliciting offers, the time required to dispose of the security, and the ability to assign or offset the rights and obligations of the security).

Money Market Securities. The Funds may invest in money market securities (the types of which are discussed below) for liquidity and cash management purposes or if the Adviser determines that securities meeting a Fund's investment objective and policies are not otherwise readily available for purchase. For temporary defensive purposes during periods when the Adviser determines that conditions warrant, a Fund may increase this percentage up to 100%. For purposes of these policies, money market securities include (i) short-term U.S. government securities, including custodial receipts evidencing separately traded interest and principal components of securities issued by the U.S. Treasury; (ii) commercial paper rated in the highest short-term rating category by a nationally recognized statistical ratings organization ("NRSRO"), such as Standard & Poor's or Moody's, or determined by the Adviser to be of comparable quality at the time of purchase; (iii) short-term bank obligations (certificates of deposit, time deposits and bankers' acceptances) of U.S. domestic banks, foreign banks and foreign branches of domestic banks, and commercial banks with assets of at least \$1 billion as of the end of their most recent fiscal year; and (iv) repurchase agreements involving such securities. Each of these types of money market securities is discussed in more detail below.

- U.S. Government Securities. Examples of types of U.S. government obligations in which a Fund may invest include U.S. Treasury obligations and the obligations of U.S. government agencies such as Federal Home Loan Banks, Federal Farm Credit Banks, Federal Land Banks, the Federal Housing Administration, Farmers Home Administration, Export-Import Bank of the United States, Small Business Administration, Fannie Mae, Government National Mortgage Association, General Services Administration, Student Loan Marketing Association, Central Bank for Cooperatives, Freddie Mac, Federal Intermediate Credit Banks, Maritime Administration, and other similar agencies. Whether backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Treasury or not, U.S. government securities are not guaranteed against price movements due to fluctuating interest rates.
 - **•***U.S. Treasury Obligations*. U.S. Treasury obligations consist of bills, notes and bonds issued by the U.S. Treasury and separately traded interest and principal component parts of such obligations that are transferable through the federal book-entry system known as Separately Traded Registered Interest and Principal Securities ("STRIPS") and Treasury Receipts ("TRs").
 - •Receipts. Interests in separately traded interest and principal component parts of U.S. government obligations that are issued by banks or brokerage firms and are created by depositing U.S. government obligations into a special account at a custodian bank. The custodian holds the interest and principal payments for the benefit of the registered owners of the certificates or receipts. The custodian arranges for the issuance of the certificates or receipts evidencing ownership and maintains the register. TRs and STRIPS are interests in accounts sponsored by the U.S. Treasury. Receipts are sold as zero coupon securities.
 - •U.S. Government Zero Coupon Securities. STRIPS and receipts are sold as zero coupon securities, that is, fixed income securities that have been stripped of their unmatured interest coupons. Zero coupon securities are sold at a (usually substantial) discount and redeemed at face value at their maturity date without interim cash payments of interest or principal. The amount of this discount is accreted over the life of the security, and the accretion constitutes the income earned on the security for both accounting and tax purposes. Because of these features, the market prices of zero coupon securities are generally more volatile than the market prices of securities that have similar maturity but

that pay interest periodically. Zero coupon securities are likely to respond to a greater degree to interest rate changes than are non-zero coupon securities with similar maturity and credit qualities.

- **U.S.** Government Agencies. Some obligations issued or guaranteed by agencies of the U.S. government are supported by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Treasury, others are supported by the right of the issuer to borrow from the Treasury, while still others are supported only by the credit of the instrumentality. Guarantees of principal by agencies or instrumentalities of the U.S. government may be a guarantee of payment at the maturity of the obligation so that in the event of a default prior to maturity there might not be a market and thus no means of realizing on the obligation prior to maturity. Guarantees as to the timely payment of principal and interest do not extend to the value or yield of these securities or to the value of a Fund's shares.
- *Commercial Paper.* Commercial paper is the term used to designate unsecured short-term promissory notes issued by corporations and other entities. Maturities on these issues vary from a few to 270 days.
- Obligations of Domestic Banks, Foreign Banks and Foreign Branches of U.S. Banks. A Fund may invest in obligations issued by banks and other savings institutions. Investments in bank obligations include obligations of domestic branches of foreign banks and foreign branches of domestic banks. Such investments in domestic branches of foreign banks and foreign branches of domestic banks may involve risks that are different from investments in securities of domestic branches of U.S. banks. These risks may include future unfavorable political and economic developments, possible withholding taxes on interest income, seizure or nationalization of foreign deposits, currency controls, interest limitations, or other governmental restrictions which might affect the payment of principal or interest on the securities held by a Fund. Additionally, these institutions may be subject to less stringent reserve requirements and to different accounting, auditing, reporting and recordkeeping requirements than those applicable to domestic branches of U.S. banks. Bank obligations include the following:
 - **Bankers'** Acceptances. Bankers' acceptances are bills of exchange or time drafts drawn on and accepted by a commercial bank. Corporations use bankers' acceptances to finance the shipment and storage of goods and to furnish dollar exchange. Maturities are generally six months or less.
 - •Certificates of Deposit. Certificates of deposit are interest-bearing instruments with a specific maturity. They are issued by banks and savings and loan institutions in exchange for the deposit of funds and normally can be traded in the secondary market prior to maturity. Unless it can be traded on a secondary market, certificates of deposit with penalties for early withdrawal will be considered illiquid.
 - Time Deposits. Time deposits are non-negotiable receipts issued by a bank in exchange for the deposit of funds. Like a certificate of deposit, it earns a specified rate of interest over a definite period of time; however, it cannot be traded in the secondary market. Time deposits with a withdrawal penalty or that mature in more than seven days are considered to be illiquid securities.
 - •Repurchase Agreements. A Fund may enter into repurchase agreements with financial institutions. A Fund follows certain procedures designed to minimize the risks inherent in such agreements. These procedures include effecting repurchase transactions only with large, well-capitalized and well-established financial institutions whose condition will be continually monitored by the Adviser. The repurchase agreements entered into by a Fund will provide that the underlying collateral at all times shall have a value at least equal to 102% of the resale price stated in the agreement (the Adviser monitors compliance with this requirement). Under all repurchase agreements entered into by a Fund, the custodian or its agent must take possession of the underlying collateral. In the event of a default or bankruptcy by a selling financial institution, a Fund will seek to liquidate such collateral. However, the exercising of a Fund's right to liquidate such collateral could involve certain

costs or delays and, to the extent that proceeds from any sale upon a default of the obligation to repurchase were less than the repurchase price, the Fund could suffer a loss. It is the current policy of a Fund, not to invest in repurchase agreements that do not mature within seven days if any such investment, together with any other illiquid assets held by the Fund, amounts to more than 10% of the Fund's net assets. The investments of a Fund in repurchase agreements, at times, may be substantial when, in the view of the Adviser, liquidity or other considerations so warrant.

"Pass Through" Securities. As part of its principal investment strategies, a Fund may invest in "pass through" securities (that is, securities that are structured to pass a majority of income as distributions to shareholders) such as master limited partnerships, real estate investment trusts and royalty trusts.

- Master Limited Partnerships (MLPs). Most MLPs operate in oil & gas related businesses including energy processing and distribution. The remaining MLPs operate in a variety of businesses including coal, timber, other minerals, real estate, and some miscellaneous businesses. MLPs are pass-through entities or businesses that are taxed at the unitholder level and generally are not subject to federal or state income tax at the partnership level. Annual income, gains, losses, deductions or credits of the MLP pass through directly to its unitholders. Unitholders report their allocated shares of these amounts on their individual tax returns, as though the unitholder had incurred these items directly. MLPs will furnish investors with a schedule K-1 to provide the information required for income tax reporting purposes. The distributions of MLPs generally are not eligible for treatment as qualified dividend income. Income realized by a Fund from an MLP that fails to qualify in any year as a qualified publicly traded partnership ("QPTP") may not be qualifying income for purposes of the Income Requirement (described below).
- Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs). Each Fund may invest in shares of REITs which are pooled investment vehicles that invest in real estate or real estate loans or interests. Investing in REITs involves risks similar to those associated with investing in equity securities of small cap companies. Furthermore, REITs are dependent on specialized management skills. Some REITs may have limited diversification and may be subject to risks inherent in financing a limited number of properties. REITs depend generally on their ability to generate cash flow to make distributions to shareholders or unitholders, and may be subject to defaults by borrowers and to self-liquidations. In addition, a REIT may be affected by its failure to qualify for tax-free pass-through of income under the Code or its failure to maintain exemption from registration under the 1940 Act.

Generally, REITs can be classified as Equity REITs, Mortgage REITs and Hybrid REITs. Equity REITs invest the majority of their assets directly in real property and derive their income primarily from rents and capital gains from appreciation realized through property sales. Mortgage REITs invest the majority of their assets in real estate mortgages and derive their income primarily from interest payments. Hybrid REITs combine the characteristics of both Equity and Mortgage REITs. By investing in REITs indirectly through a Fund, shareholders will bear not only the proportionate share of the expenses of the Fund, but also, indirectly, similar expenses of underlying REITs. A Fund may be subject to certain risks associated with the direct investments of the REITs. REITs may be affected by changes in the value of their underlying properties and by defaults by borrowers or tenants. Mortgage REITs may be affected by the quality of the credit extended.

Securities of Other Investment Companies. Securities of other investment companies, including shares of closed-end investment companies, exchange traded funds, unit investment trusts, open-end investment companies, business development companies, and REITs represent interests in professionally managed portfolios that may invest in any type of instrument. Investing in other investment companies involves substantially the same risks as investing directly in the underlying instruments, but may involve additional expenses at the investment companylevel, such as portfolio management fees and operating expenses. Certain types of investment companies, such as closed-end investment companies, issue a fixed number of shares that trade on a stock exchange or over-the-counter at a premium or a discount to their NAV. Others are continuously offered at NAV, but may also be traded in the secondary market. Federal securities laws limit the extent to which a fund can invest in securities of other investment companies. A Fund is prohibited from acquiring the securities of another investment company if, as a

result of such acquisition: (1) the Fund owns more than 3% of the total voting stock of the other company; (2) securities issued by any one investment company represent more than 5% of the Fund's total assets; or (3) securities (other than treasury stock) issued by all investment companies represent more than 10% of the total assets of the Fund, unless it does so in reliance on a statutory exemption under the 1940 Act or rule or SEC staff interpretations thereunder.

When-Issued Securities and Delayed-Delivery Transactions. A Fund may purchase securities on a when-issued basis, and may purchase or sell securities for delayed-delivery. These transactions occur when securities are purchased or sold by a Fund with payment and delivery taking place at some future date. A Fund may enter into such transactions when, in the investment adviser's opinion, doing so may secure an advantageous yield and/or price to the Fund that might otherwise be unavailable. None of the Funds are limited on the percentage of assets it may commit to such transactions, but to minimize the risks of entering into these transactions, any Fund committing to such transactions will maintain a segregated account with its custodian consisting of cash, cash equivalents, or U.S. Government securities, in an amount equal to the aggregate fair market value of its commitments to such transactions.

INVESTMENT RESTRICTIONS

The Funds (except where noted) have adopted the following fundamental investment limitations, which cannot be changed without approval by holders of a majority of the outstanding voting securities of each Fund as defined in the 1940 Act. As provided in the 1940 Act, a vote of a "majority of the outstanding voting securities" of a Fund means the affirmative vote of the lesser of: (1) more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the Fund; or (2) 67% or more of the shares of the Fund present at a meeting, if more than 50% of the shares are represented at the meeting in person or by proxy. Except with respect to borrowing, changes in values of the Fund's assets as a whole will not cause a violation of the following investment restrictions so long as percentage restrictions are observed by the Fund at the time it purchases any security.

Fundamental Investment Restrictions. As a matter of fundamental policy, no Fund is allowed to:

- (1) issue senior securities, borrow money, or pledge its assets, except that it may borrow from banks as a temporary measure: (a) for extraordinary or emergency purposes, in amounts not exceeding 5% of its total assets; or (b) in order to meet redemption requests, in amounts not exceeding 15% of its total assets; the Fund will not make any investments if borrowing exceeds 5% of its total assets until such time as total borrowing represents less than 5% of Fund assets;
- (2) invest for the purpose of exercising control or management of another issuer;
- (3) purchase or sell commodities or commodities contracts, real estate (including limited partnership interests, but excluding readily marketable securities secured by real estate or interests therein, readily marketable interests in real estate investment trusts, readily marketable securities issued by companies that invest in real estate or interests therein, as described in the Prospectus) or interests in oil, gas, or other mineral exploration or development programs or leases (although it may invest in readily marketable securities of issuers that invest in or sponsor such programs or leases);
- (4) underwrite securities issued by others, except to the extent that the disposition of portfolio securities, either directly from an issuer or from an underwriter for an issuer, may be deemed to be an underwriting under the federal securities laws;
- (5) make short sales of securities or maintain a short position, except for: (a) outright short sales; and (b) short sales "against the box" as defined below:

Outright: an outright short sale involves the sale of securities not presently owned by the Fund. If the Fund does not purchase that security on the same day as the sale, the security must be borrowed (typically, from a broker/dealer). At the time an outright short sale is effected, the Fund incurs an obligation to replace the security borrowed at whatever its price may be at the time the Fund purchases the security for delivery to the lender; and an

- "Against the Box": a short sale "against the box" means that securities the Fund already owns are sold, but not delivered. Instead, these securities are segregated and pledged against the short position. When the short sale is closed out, the securities owned are released.
- (6) participate on a joint or joint and several basis in any trading account in securities;
- (7) make loans of money or securities, except that the Funds may: (i) invest in repurchase agreements and commercial paper; (ii) purchase a portion of an issue of publicly distributed bonds, debentures or other debt securities; and (iii) acquire private issues of debt securities subject to the limitations on investments in illiquid securities;
- (8) under normal circumstances invest more than 25% of its total assets in the securities of companies engaged in a single industry. This restriction does not limit a Fund's investments in: (i) obligations issued or guaranteed by the U.S. Government, its agencies or instrumentalities; (ii) tax-exempt obligations issued by governments or political subdivisions of governments; or (iii) repurchase agreements collateralized by such obligations;
- (9) each Fund is a "diversified company" as defined in the 1940 Act. This means that a Fund will not, with respect to 75% of its total assets, purchase securities of any issuer (other than securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S. Government or any of its agencies or instrumentalities), if, as a result: (i) more than 5% of the Fund's total assets would be invested in the securities of that issuer; or (ii) the Fund would hold more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of that issuer;

Non-Fundamental Investment Restrictions. The following investment limitations are not fundamental, and may be changed without shareholder approval. As a matter of non-fundamental policy, no Fund is allowed to:

- (1) invest more than 10% of its net assets in illiquid securities. For this purpose, illiquid securities include, among others: (a) securities for which no readily available market exists or which have legal or contractual restrictions on resale; (b) fixed time deposits that are subject to withdrawal penalties and have maturities of more than seven (7) days; and (c) repurchase agreements not terminable within seven (7) days;
- (2) purchase any securities on margin except in connection with such short-term credits as may be necessary for the clearance of transactions.

PORTFOLIO TURNOVER

Portfolio turnover rate is calculated by dividing the lesser of a Fund's sales or purchases of portfolio securities for the fiscal year (exclusive of purchases or sales of all securities whose maturities or expiration dates at the time of acquisition were one year or less) by the monthly average value of the securities in a Fund's portfolio during the fiscal year. A 100% turnover rate would occur if all the securities in the Fund's portfolio, with the exception of securities whose maturities at the time of acquisition were one year or less, were sold and either repurchased or replaced within one year.

The Funds will generally purchase and sell securities without regard to the length of time the security has been held. Accordingly, it can be expected that the rate of portfolio turnover may be high. For each Fund's last fiscal years ended June 30, 2017 and 2018, portfolio turnover rates were:

	Portfolio T	'urnover Rate
Name of Fund	2017	2018
Quaker Global Tactical Allocation Fund	184%	56%
Quaker Mid-Cap Value Fund	28%	34%
Quaker Small/Mid-Cap Impact Value Fund	146%	122%
Ouaker Impact Growth Fund	185%	119%

VALUATION OF INDIVIDUAL PORTFOLIO HOLDINGS

Securities that are listed on a securities exchange are valued at the last quoted sales price at the time the valuation is made. Price information on listed securities is taken from the exchange where the security is primarily traded by the Fund. Securities that are listed on an exchange and which are not traded on the valuation date are valued at the mean of the bid and asked prices. Unlisted securities for which market quotations are readily available are valued at the latest quoted sales price, if available, at the time of valuation, otherwise, at the latest quoted bid price. Securities for which no current quotations are readily available are valued at fair value as determined in good faith using methods approved by the Board of Trustees of the Trust. Securities may be valued on the basis of prices provided by a pricing service when such prices are believed to reflect the fair market value of such securities. Please see the Prospectus for more details regarding fair valuation of securities.

Fixed income securities will ordinarily be traded on the over-the-counter market. When market quotations are not readily available, fixed income securities may be valued based on prices provided by a pricing service. The prices provided by the pricing service are generally determined with consideration given to institutional bid and last sale prices and take into account securities prices, yields, maturities, call features, ratings, institutional trading in similar groups of securities, and developments related to specific securities. Such fixed income securities may also be priced based upon a matrix system of pricing similar bonds and other fixed income securities. The matrix system may be based upon the considerations described above used by other pricing services and information obtained by the pricing agent from the investment adviser and other pricing sources deemed relevant by the pricing agent.

DISCLOSURE OF PORTFOLIO HOLDINGS

The Board of Trustees has adopted policies and procedures regarding the disclosure of portfolio holdings information to protect the interests of Fund shareholders and to address potential conflicts of interest that could arise between the interests of Fund shareholders and the interests of the Adviser, Sub-advisers, if any, principal underwriter, administrator, or any employees thereof (collectively, the "Fund Representatives"). The Funds' overall policy with respect to the release of portfolio holdings is to release such information consistent with applicable legal requirements and the fiduciary duties owed to shareholders. Subject to the limited exceptions described below, the Funds will not make available to anyone non-public information with respect to their portfolio holdings until such time as the information is made available to all shareholders or the general public.

These policies and procedures are also applicable to the Fund Representatives. Pursuant to the policy, the Funds and the Fund Representatives are obligated to:

- Act in the best interests of Fund shareholders by protecting non-public and potentially material portfolio holdings information;
- Ensure that portfolio holdings information is not provided to a favored group of clients or potential clients; and
- Adopt safeguards and controls governing the release of client information so that no client or group of
 clients is unfairly disadvantaged as a result of such release.

Any requests for departures from this policy from clients, or from other third parties, must be authorized by the Chief Compliance Officer prior to disclosure. In certain jurisdictions it is prohibited by law to make available to some shareholders the Funds' underlying portfolio positions unless all shareholders receive the same information. Providing such information to selected recipients could assist a person or entity in late trading of the Funds' shares or allow them to engage in other detrimental trading techniques such as front running or short selling of the portfolio securities in the Funds.

There are general and other limited exceptions to this prohibition. Third parties that provide services to the Funds, such as trade execution measurement and reporting systems, personal securities transaction monitoring, proxy voting, the Funds' custodian, administrator, accountants/auditors, legal counsel, printers and executing

brokers, may also receive or have access to non-public Fund portfolio holdings information. These parties, either by explicit agreement or by virtue of their duties, are required to maintain confidentiality and are required not to trade on such information. The Adviser, the Sub-advisers, if any, and certain of their personnel have access to the Funds' portfolio holdings in the course of providing advisory services to the Funds. In addition, between the 5th and 10th day after each month and calendar quarter end, the Funds may disclose their portfolio holdings to various rating organizations. No Fund or affiliated entity receives compensation or other consideration by virtue of disclosure of a Fund's portfolio holdings.

Non-public portfolio information may be disclosed to other third parties provided that there is a legitimate business purpose for doing so and is approved by the Chief Compliance Officer and proper undertakings are obtained with respect to confidentiality and limited scope of use of the information.

The Adviser's compliance staff conduct periodic reviews of compliance with the policy and, as appropriate, the Funds' Chief Compliance Officer will report to the Board of Trustees regarding the operation of the policy, any material changes recommended as a result of such review and any material exceptions that have been granted under the policy, including an explanation of the legitimate business purpose that was served as a result of any such exception.

The Funds also disclose their complete portfolio holdings quarterly to the SEC using Form N-Q within sixty (60) days of the first and third quarter-ends of the Funds' fiscal year and on Form N-CSR on the second and fourth quarter-ends of the Funds' fiscal year. Form N-Q is not required to be mailed to shareholders, but is made public through SEC electronic filings. Shareholders receive either complete portfolio holdings information or summaries of Fund portfolio holdings with their annual and semi-annual reports.

MANAGEMENT OF THE TRUST

BOARD OF TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS

The business of the Funds is supervised by the Board of Trustees, who may exercise all powers not required by statute, the Agreement and Declaration of Trust (the "Declaration of Trust"), or the By-laws to be exercised by the shareholders. The Trustees stand in the position of fiduciaries to the Funds and their shareholders and, as such, they have a duty of due care and loyalty. The Trustees are responsible for managing the business and affairs of the Funds.

When appropriate, the Board of Trustees will consider separately matters relating to each Fund or to any class of shares of a Fund. The Board of Trustees elects the officers of the Trust and retains various companies to carry out Fund operations, including the investment adviser, custodian, administrator and transfer agent.

The following table provides information about the Trustees and Officers of the Trust, including each person's experience as a Director or Trustee of other funds as well as other recent professional experience.

Name, Age & Address*	Position(s) Held with the Trust	Serving as an Officer or Trustee of the Trust	Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 Years	Number of Portfolios in Fund Complex Overseen by Trustee	Other Directorship(s) Held by Trustee ⁽¹⁾
Independent Trustees					
James R. Brinton Age 64	Trustee Chairman Lead Independent Trustee	Since 2002 Since 2018 2007 – 2018	Vice President, BMT Insurance Advisors (a commercial insurance brokerage firm) since 2015; President, Robert J. McAllister Agency, Inc. (a commercial insurance brokerage firm).	4	None
Everett T. Keech Age 78	Trustee	2005 – Present	Chairman, Technology Development Corp., since 1997; Affiliated Faculty.	4	Director, Technology Development Corp.
Gary E. Shugrue Age 64	Trustee	2008 – Present	Veritable, LP (investment advisory firm) since 2015; President and Chief Investment Officer, Ascendant Capital Partners from 2001 – 2015.	4	Director, Vivaldi Opportunities Fund; Director, Cliffwater Corporate Lending Fund
Warren West Age 61	Trustee	2003 – Present	Retired since 2017. Greentree Brokerage Services, Inc. from 1998 – 2017.	4	None
Interested Trustee					
Alyssa Greenspan ⁽²⁾ Age 46	President	Since January, 2018	President, Community Capital Management, Inc. since January 2015;	4	Director, Impact Shares
	Trustee	Since June, 2018	Chief Operating Officer, Community Capital Management, Inc. since June 2009; Senior Vice President and Portfolio Manager, Community Capital Management, Inc. since May 2003.		

Name, Age & Address*	Position(s) Held with the Trust	Serving as an Officer or Trustee of the Trust	Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 Years	Number of Portfolios in Fund Complex Overseen by Trustee	Other Directorship(s) Held by Trustee ⁽¹⁾
Officers					
Todd Cohen Age 52	Secretary	Since June, 2018	Chief Executive Officer and Chief Investment Officer, Community Capital Management, Inc. since January 2015; President and Chief Investment Officer, Community Capital Management, Inc. January 2007 – January 2015.	N/A	N/A
David K. Downes Age 78	Treasurer	Since June, 2018	Chair of the Board, Community Capital Management, Inc. since February 2015; Chief Executive Officer, Community Capital Management, Inc. from January 2004 – February 2015; Director, THL Credit Inc. since June 2009; President, The Community Reinvestment Act Qualified Investment Fund since January 2004; President, Alternative Income Fund since 2016; Director Internet Capital Group from October 2003 – December 2017.	N/A	N/A
Stefanie Little Age 50	Chief Compliance Officer	Since June, 2018	Chief Compliance Officer, Community Capital Management, Inc. (2010 – present). Chief Compliance Officer for Quaker Investment Trust since June, 2018. Founder of Chenery Compliance Group, LLC (2015 – present); Managing Member SEC Compliance Alliance, LLC (2012 – present); President of Little Consulting Group, Inc. (2011 – present).	N/A	N/A

^{*} The address for each Trustee and Officer is Community Capital Management, Inc., 2500 Weston Road, Suite 101, Weston, Florida 33331.

- (1) Directorship of companies required to report to the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "1934 Act"), (e.g., "public companies") and investment companies registered under the 1940 Act.
- (2) Ms. Greenspan is an "interested person of the Trust (as defined in the 1940 act) due to the position she holds with Community Capital Management, Inc.

Trustees' Qualifications. Information on the Trust's Trustees and officers appears in the chart above. Such information includes business activities of the Trustees during the past five years and beyond. The Board believes that, collectively, the Trustees have balanced and diverse experience, skills, attributes and qualifications, that allow the Board to operate effectively in governing the Trust and protecting the interests of shareholders. Among the attributes common to all Trustees are their ability to review critically, evaluate, question and discuss information provided to them; to interact effectively with the Trust's investment manager, other service providers, counsel and independent auditors; and to exercise business judgment in the performance of their duties as Trustees. Each Trustees' ability to perform his or her duties effectively is evidenced by his or her educational background or professional training; business, consulting or public service positions; experience from service as a Board member of the Trust, other investment funds, public companies or non-profit entities or other organizations; and ongoing commitment and participation in Board and committee meetings throughout the years.

While there are no specific required qualifications for Board membership, the Board believes the specific background of each Trustee is appropriate to his or her serving on the Trust's Board of Trustees. As indicated, Ms. Greenspan is president of the Adviser; Mr. Brinton is vice president of a commercial insurance brokerage firm; Mr. Shugrue is president and chief investment officer of a hedge fund advisory firm; prior to retiring, Mr. West managed a securities brokerage firm; and Mr. Keech has more than 30 years of experience teaching finance at the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania and has executive experience in the private equity industry. The foregoing discussion and the Trustees and Officers chart above are included in this SAI pursuant to requirements of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, do not constitute holding out the Board or any Trustee as having special expertise or experience and shall not be deemed to impose any greater responsibility or liability on any Trustee by reason thereof.

Ownership of Fund Shares by Trustees. Information relating to each Trustee's ownership (including the ownership of his or her immediate family) in each Fund as of December 31, 2017 is set forth in the chart below.

Interested Trustees

Name	<u>Fund Name</u>	Dollar Range of Shares of Beneficial Interest of the Funds Beneficially Owned	Aggregate Dollar Range of Equity Securities in All Registered Investment Companies Overseen by Trustee in the Fund Complex
Alyssa Greenspan	None	None	None
Independent Trustees		Dollar Range of Shares of Beneficial Interest of the Funds Beneficially	Aggregate Dollar Range of Equity Securities in All Registered Investment Companies Overseen by Trustee in
<u>Name</u>	<u>Fund Name</u>	Owned	the Fund Complex
James R. Brinton	Quaker Global Tactical Allocation Fund Quaker Impact Growth Fund Quaker Mid-Cap Value Fund Quaker Small/Mid-Cap Impact Value Fund	None Over \$100,000 None Over \$100,000	Over \$100,000
Everett T. Keech	Quaker Global Tactical Allocation Fund Quaker Impact Growth Fund	None \$1-\$10,000	\$1 - \$10,000

Independent Trustees

<u>Name</u>	Fund Name	Dollar Range of Shares of Beneficial Interest of the Funds Beneficially Owned	of Equity Securities in All Registered Investment Companies Overseen by Trustee in the Fund Complex
	Quaker Mid-Cap Value Fund	None	
	Quaker Small/Mid-Cap Impact Value Fund	None	
Gary E. Shugrue	Quaker Global Tactical Allocation Fund	None	
	Quaker Impact Growth Fund	None	
	Quaker Mid-Cap Value Fund	None	None
	Quaker Small/Mid-Cap Impact Value Fund	None	
Warren West	Quaker Global Tactical Allocation Fund	None	
	Quaker Impact Growth Fund	\$10,001 - \$50,000	
	Quaker Mid-Cap Value Fund	\$1 - \$10,000	\$10,001 - \$50,000
	Quaker Small/Mid-Cap Impact Value Fund	None	

Aggregate Dollar Range

COMPENSATION OF TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS

Compensation of Trustees. Each Independent Trustee receives compensation from the Funds. Any interested Trustees are not compensated by the Funds. Each Independent Trustee currently receives a total annual retainer of \$25,000 for serving as a Trustee of the Trust.

The compensation tables below set forth the total compensation paid to the Trustees for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. The Trust has no pension or retirement benefits for any of the Trustees.

Name and Position(s) Held	Aggregate Compensation from the Trust	Pension or Retirement Benefits Accrued as Part of Trust Expenses	Total Estimated Annual Benefits upon Retirement	Compensation from the Fund(s) and Fund Complex Paid to Trustee
James R. Brinton Chairman and Independent Trustee	\$25,000	N/A	N/A	\$25,000
Warren West Independent Trustee	\$25,000	N/A	N/A	\$25,000
Alyssa Greenspan Interested Trustee	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Everett T. Keech Independent Trustee	\$25,000	N/A	N/A	\$25,000
Gary E. Shugrue Independent Trustee	\$25,000	N/A	N/A	\$25,000

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the Trust held 7 Board meetings. Each of the currently serving Trustees attended at least 75% of those Board meetings and also attended at least 66% of those committee meetings on which the Trustee serves as a member.

There are two standing committees of the Board of Trustees: Audit Committee and Nominating Committee.

Audit Committee. The members of the Audit Committee are: Messrs. Everett T. Keech (Chairperson of the Audit Committee), James R. Brinton, Gary E. Shugrue and Warren West. The Audit Committee operates pursuant to a charter adopted by the Board of Trustees. The purposes of the Audit Committee are to: (i) oversee the Funds' accounting and financial reporting principles and policies and related controls and procedures maintained by or on behalf of the Funds; (ii) oversee the Funds' financial statements and the independent audit thereof; (iii) select, evaluate and, where deemed appropriate, replace the Funds' independent registered public accountants ("independent auditors"); (iv) evaluate the independence of the Funds' independent auditors; and (v) to report to the full Board of Trustees on its activities and recommendations. The function of the Audit Committee is oversight; it is management's responsibility to maintain appropriate systems for accounting and internal control, and the independent auditors' responsibility to plan and carry out a proper audit. The independent auditors are ultimately accountable to the Board and the Audit Committee, as representatives of the Funds' shareholders. Each of the members of the Audit Committee have a working knowledge of basic finance and accounting matters and are not interested persons of the Trust, as defined in the 1940 Act. The Audit Committee met two times during the past fiscal year.

Nominating Committee. The members of the Nominating Committee are: Messrs. James R. Brinton (Chairperson of the Nominating Committee), Everett T. Keech, Gary E. Shugrue and Warren West, each of whom is an Independent Trustee, and, as such, satisfies the independence requirements under Rule 10A-3 of the 1934 Act, as amended. The Nominating Committee operates pursuant to a charter adopted by the Board of Trustees. The purpose of the Nominating Committee is to recommend nominees for: (i) consideration as an independent trustee by the incumbent Independent Trustees of the Trust; and (ii) consideration as an interested trustee by the full Board of Trustees of the Trust. The Nominating Committee met once during the past fiscal year.

The Nominating Committee generally identifies candidates for Board membership through personal and business contacts of Trustees and, in its sole discretion, may solicit names of potential candidates from Community Capital Management, Inc. The Nominating Committee's process for evaluating a candidate generally includes a review of the candidate's background and experience, and other due diligence. In evaluating a candidate, the Nominating Committee will also consider whether the candidate, if elected, would qualify as an independent trustee.

The Nominating Committee has not established any specific minimum requirements that candidates must meet in order to be recommended by the Nominating Committee for nomination for election to the Board. Rather, the Nominating Committee seeks candidates to serve on the Board who, in its judgment, will serve the best interests of the Trust's long-term shareholders and whose background will complement the experience, skills and diversity of the other Trustees and add to the overall effectiveness of the Board. The Nominating Committee does not currently consider shareholder recommendations for nomination of trustees to the Board.

GOVERNANCE AND RISK DISCUSSION

Board Leadership

Ms. Greenspan is the sole Interested Trustee on the Board. The Board believes that it is beneficial to have a representative of fund management on the Board. Ms. Greenspan is President and Chief Operating Officer of the Adviser, the Trust's investment manager, and oversees the day-to-day investment and business affairs affecting the Adviser and the Trust. Accordingly, her participation in the Board's deliberations helps assure that the Board's decisions are informed and are accurately communicated to and implemented by Fund management.

The Board has designated Mr. Brinton, one of the Trust's Independent Trustees, to serve as the Chairman of the Board. The Chairman, in consultation with fund management, counsel and the other Trustees, participates in developing Board meeting agendas, and ensures that appropriate and timely information is provided to the Board in connection with Board meetings. The Chairman also conducts meetings of the Independent Trustees.

The Chairman also generally serves as a liaison between outside Trustees, Fund officers, and counsel, and is chairman of the Nominating Committee.

The Board is currently comprised of five Trustees. The Trustees believe that the current size of the Board is conducive to Board interaction, dialogue and debate, resulting in an effective decision-making body. The Board is comprised of Trustees with a variety of professional backgrounds. The Board believes that the skill sets of its members are complementary and add to the overall effectiveness of the Board. The Trustees regard diversity as an important consideration in the present composition of the Board and the selection of qualified candidates to fill vacancies on the Board.

The Board has established an Audit Committee and a Nominating Committee, each of which focuses on a particular substantive area and provides reports and recommendations to the full Board. The committee structure enables the Board to manage efficiently and effectively the large volume of information relevant to the Board's oversight of the Trust. The committees benefit from the professional expertise of their members. At the same time, membership on a committee enhances the expertise of its members and benefits the overall effectiveness of the Board. Both committees are comprised solely of Independent Trustees.

Risk Oversight

Among the Board's general oversight and management functions is to oversee the risks of the Trust. The Trust's Funds are subject to various risks, including investment, compliance, operational and valuation risks, among others. The Board addresses its risk oversight function through different Board and committee activities. For instance, the Board has delegated the day-to-day risk management and oversight function to the Adviser or, in certain cases (subject to the Adviser's supervision) and depending on the nature of the risks, to other service providers. The Board, or a committee, reviews and evaluates reports from the Adviser or service providers regarding the risks faced by the Funds and regarding the service providers' oversight and management of those risks. In addition to the delegation of the day-to-day risk management and oversight function, the committees of the Board allow the Trustees to quickly and efficiently consider risk matters and facilitate the oversight by the Trustees of the Funds' activities and the risks related to those activities. The Board has also appointed a CCO who oversees the implementation and evaluation of the Funds' compliance program. The CCO periodically reports to the Board regarding compliance matters in connection with the Funds' activities and the services provided by the Adviser and other service providers.

Proxy Voting Policies

The Board has adopted Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures ("Policies") on behalf of the Trust, which delegates the responsibility for voting proxies to the Adviser, subject to the Board's continuing oversight. The Policies require that the Adviser vote proxies received in a manner consistent with the best interests of the Funds and their shareholders. The Policies also require the Adviser to present to the Board, at least annually, the Adviser's proxy voting policies and a record of each proxy voted by the Adviser on behalf of the Fund, including a report on the resolution of all proxies identified by the Adviser as involving a conflict of interest.

The Adviser has adopted Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures ("Adviser's Proxy Policies") which require that all proxy voting decisions be made in the best interest of the Funds and that the Adviser acts in a prudent and diligent manner intended to enhance the economic value of the assets of the Funds.

Where a proxy proposal raises a material conflict between the Adviser's interests and a Fund's interests, the Adviser will resolve the conflict by disclosing the conflict to the Board and by obtaining the Board's consent to vote.

The Trust is required to annually file Form N-PX, which lists the Fund's complete proxy voting record for the most recent 12-month period ending August 31. Once filed, the Fund's proxy voting record will be available without charge, upon request, by calling toll-free 1-877-386-3890 and on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov.

INVESTMENT ADVISORY AND OTHER SERVICES

INVESTMENT ADVISER

Founded in 1998 as a Delaware Corporation, Community Capital Management, Inc. (the "Adviser") serves as investment adviser to the Funds, and is located at 2500 Weston Road, Suite 101, Weston, Florida 33331. The Adviser is registered with the SEC under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the "Advisers Act"). David Downes, as Vice Chair and Director; Todd Cohen, as Chief Executive Officer, Chief Investment Officer and Director; Alyssa Greenspan, as President, Chief Operating Officer and Director; Stefanie Little, as Chief Compliance Officer; and James Malone, as Chief Financial Officer and Director; are all considered to be control persons of the Adviser due to their positions with the firm. Todd Cohen is considered to be a control person due to his ownership of the Adviser.

Subject to the supervision of the Board, Community Capital Management, Inc. was elected to serve as the investment adviser to the Funds, pursuant to an Investment Advisory Agreement with the Trust on behalf of the Funds (the "Investment Management Agreement").

The Investment Management Agreement is in its initial two year term and may be renewed each year thereafter only so long as such renewal and continuance are specifically approved at least annually by the Board or by vote of a majority of the outstanding voting securities of each Fund, and only if the terms of, and the renewal thereof, have been approved by the vote of a majority of the Independent Trustees of the Trust who are not parties thereto or interested persons of any such party, cast in person at a meeting called for the purpose of voting on such approval. The Investment Management Agreement is terminable without penalty on 60 days' notice by the Trustees of the Trust or by the Adviser. The Investment Management Agreement will terminate automatically in the event of its assignment.

For its services to the Funds, the Adviser is entitled to receive an annual fee as follows:

Name of Fund	Total Advisory Fee Paid as a Percentage of Average Net Assets
Quaker Global Tactical Allocation Fund	0.75%
Quaker Mid-Cap Value Fund	0.90%
Quaker Small/Mid-Cap Impact Value Fund	0.90%
Quaker Impact Growth Fund	0.75%

The following table provides the actual aggregate advisory fees paid by each Fund during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2017, and 2016. Each class of each Fund pays its proportionate share of the advisory fees.

Name of Fund	Advisory Fee	2018	2017	2016
Quaker Global Tactical Allocation Fund	Accrued	\$ 36,968	\$ 68,922	\$ 108,733
	(Waived)/Recouped	\$ (15,115)	\$ (13,792)	\$ 0
	Paid	\$ 21,853	\$ 55,130	\$ 108,733
Quaker Mid-Cap Value Fund	Paid	\$ 57,232	\$ 76,133	\$ 78,082
Quaker Small/Mid-Cap Impact Value Fund	Paid	\$ 240,727	\$ 304,604	\$ 340,820
Quaker Impact Growth Fund	Accrued	\$ 526,899	\$815,697	\$1,537,363
	(Waived)/Recouped	\$ 0	\$ (92,694)	\$ (70,047)
	Paid	\$ 526,899	\$ 723,003	\$1,467,316

PORTFOLIO MANAGERS

The following provides information regarding the Portfolio Managers identified in the Funds' Prospectus: (1) the dollar range of the Portfolio Manager's investments in each Fund; (2) a description of the Portfolio Manager's compensation structure; and (3) information regarding other accounts managed by the manager and potential conflicts of interests that might arise from the management of multiple accounts.

INVESTMENTS IN EACH FUND

NAME OF PORTFOLIO MANAGER

FUND & DOLLAR RANGE OF INVESTMENTS IN EACH FUND

Todd Cohen None
Andrew J. Cowen None
Thomas R. Lott None

Compensation of Portfolio Managers. Todd Cohen is paid a salary and bonus based upon a percentage of the profitability of the Adviser. Andrew J. Cowen and Thomas R. Lott are paid based on a percentage of the profitability of the Adviser.

OTHER MANAGED ACCOUNTS OF PORTFOLIO MANAGERS

In addition to the management of the respective Funds, as of June 30, 2018, the Portfolio Managers also manage other accounts as summarized below.

Todd Cohen	Number of Accounts	Total Assets in Accounts	Number of Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance	Total Assets in Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance
Registered Investment Companies	1	\$36,000,000	0	\$0
Other Pooled Investment Vehicles	0	\$0	0	\$0
Other Accounts	0	\$0	0	\$0

⁽¹⁾ Reflects investments in a Fund's shares owned directly by a Portfolio Manager or beneficially owned by a Portfolio Manager (as determined in accordance with Rule 16a-1(a)(2) under the 1934 Act, as amended). A Portfolio Manager is presumed to be a beneficial owner of securities that are held by his or her immediate family members sharing the same household.

Andrew J. Cowen	Number of Accounts	Total Assets in Accounts	Number of Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance	Total Assets in Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance
Registered Investment Companies	1	\$36,000,000	0	\$0
Other Pooled Investment Vehicles	0	\$0	0	\$0
Other Accounts	0	\$0	0	\$0

Thomas R. Lott	Number of Accounts	Total Assets in Accounts	Number of Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance	Total Assets in Accounts Where Advisory Fee is Based on Account Performance
Registered Investment Companies	1	\$36,000,000	0	\$0
Other Pooled Investment Vehicles	0	\$0	0	\$0
Other Accounts	0	\$0	0	\$0

Potential Conflicts of Interest. Actual or apparent conflicts of interest may arise when a Portfolio Manager has day-to-day management responsibilities with respect to more than one fund or other account. Set forth below is a description of material conflicts of interest that may arise in connection with a Portfolio Manager who manages multiple funds and/or other accounts:

- The management of multiple funds and/or other accounts may result in a Portfolio Manager devoting varying periods of time and attention to the management of each fund and/or other account. As a result, the Portfolio Manager may not be able to formulate as complete a strategy or identify equally attractive investment opportunities for each of those accounts as might be the case if he or she were to devote substantially more attention to the management of a single fund.
- If a Portfolio Manager identifies an investment opportunity that may be suitable for more than one fund or other account, a fund may not be able to take full advantage of that opportunity due to an allocation of filled purchase or sale orders across all eligible funds and other accounts.
- At times, a Portfolio Manager may determine that an investment opportunity may be appropriate for only some of the funds or other accounts for which he or she exercises investment responsibility, or may decide that certain of the funds or other accounts should take differing positions with respect to a particular security. In these cases, the Portfolio Manager may place separate transactions for one or more funds or other accounts, which may affect the market price of the security or the execution of the transaction, or both, to the detriment of one or more other funds or accounts.
- With respect to securities transactions for the Funds, an Adviser determines which broker to use to execute each order, consistent with its duty to seek best execution of the transaction. However, with respect to certain other accounts (such as other pooled investment vehicles that are not registered mutual funds, and other accounts managed for organizations and individuals), an Adviser may be limited by the client with respect to the selection of brokers or may be instructed to direct trades through a particular broker. In these cases, an Adviser or its affiliates may place separate, non-simultaneous, transactions for a fund and another account that may temporarily affect the market price of the security or the execution of the transaction, or both, to the detriment of the Fund or the other account.
- The appearance of a conflict of interest may arise where an Adviser has an incentive, such as a performance based management fee or other differing fee structure, which relates to the management of

one fund or other account but not all funds and accounts with respect to which a Portfolio Manager has day-to-day management responsibilities.

The Adviser and the Funds have adopted certain compliance policies and procedures that are designed to address these types of conflicts. However, there is no guarantee that such procedures will detect each and every situation in which an actual or potential conflict may arise.

Specific Conflicts of Interest

Investment decisions for the Funds may be made in conjunction with decisions for other accounts and/or funds with the same strategy. The Adviser recognizes that potential conflicts may arise with respect to other investment accounts managed by the Adviser, which may include privately offered funds, separately managed accounts of high net worth customers and institutional investors, and other registered investment companies. These conflicts include, but may not be limited to, differing fee structures, differing investments selected for various vehicles, and inequitable allocation and aggregation trading practices. Registered investment companies, private funds and separate accounts are generally invested pro-rata unless circumstances (e.g. a partially filled order) warrant a different approach. The Adviser has comprehensive policies and procedures designed to monitor and mitigate any perceived conflicts of interest.

PRINCIPAL UNDERWRITER AND PLANS OF DISTRIBUTION

Distributor. Foreside Fund Services, LLC ("Foreside"), located at 3 Canal Plaza, Suite 100, Portland, Maine 04101, serves as the Trust's distributor. As the distributor, it has agreed to use reasonable efforts to distribute each Fund's classes of shares.

Pursuant to the Distribution Agreement between Foreside and the Trust, Foreside is responsible for the payment of distribution fees made pursuant to the Funds' Rule 12b-1 Distribution Plans for the Advisor Class Shares described below. There is no Rule 12b-1 distribution plan for Institutional Class Shares of the Funds. The Distribution Agreement may be terminated at any time upon sixty (60) days' written notice, without payment of a penalty, by Foreside, by vote of a majority of the outstanding class of voting securities of the affected Fund, or by vote of a majority of the Board of Trustees who are not "interested persons" of the Trust and who have no direct or indirect financial interest in the operation of the Distribution Agreement. The Distribution Agreement will terminate automatically in the event of its assignment.

Pursuant to the Distribution Agreement, Foreside facilitates the registration of the Funds' shares under state Blue Sky laws and assists in the sale of shares. The shares of the Funds are continuously offered by Foreside. Foreside is not obligated to sell any specific number of shares of the Funds but has undertaken to sell such shares on a best efforts basis.

Foreside from time to time reallowed all or a portion of the sales charge on the former Class A Shares to individual selling dealers. The aggregate dollar amount of underwriting commissions and the amount retained by Foreside, as of June 30, 2018, is as follows:

				Class Shares Class A Shares)		
Fund	2	018	2	017	20	016
		After		After		After
	Aggregate	Reallowance	Aggregate	Reallowance	Aggregate	Reallowance
Quaker Global Tactical Allocation						
Fund	\$3,507.50	\$342.60	\$361.26	\$36.29	\$14,415.17	\$1,794.70
Quaker Mid-Cap Value Fund	\$52.09	\$5.57	\$686.14	\$67.45	\$609.06	\$61.79
Quaker Small/Mid-Cap Impact	\$4,151.63	\$651.28	\$143.65	\$14.52	\$923.19	\$92.99
Value Fund						
Quaker Impact Growth Fund	\$5,433.99	\$555.57	\$7,014.56	\$718.40	\$20,691.56	\$2,188.43

Distribution Plan (Rule 12b-1 Plan). The Trust has adopted a distribution plan under Rule 12b-1 of the 1940 Act (the "Plan"), whereby a Fund may make payments and bear expenses related to distribution of the Fund's Advisor Class Shares. The Plan is a compensation plan that provides for payments at an annual rate of up to 0.25% of the average daily net asset value of Advisor Class Shares of each Fund. There is no 12b-1 fee on Institutional Class Shares.

The Plan permits each Fund to compensate Foreside, the Adviser and others in connection with activities intended to promote the sale of Advisor Class Shares of each Fund up to the maximum rate permitted by the Plan, regardless of the actual expenses incurred. Expenditures under the Plan may consist of: (i) commissions to sales personnel for selling Fund shares; including travel, entertainment and business development expenses; (ii) compensation, sales incentives and payments to sales, marketing and service personnel; (iii) payments to broker-dealers and other financial institutions that have entered into agreements with Foreside in the form of a Dealer Agreement for services rendered in connection with the sale and distribution of shares of the Funds; (iv) payment of expenses incurred in sales and promotional activities, including advertising expenditures related to the Funds; (v) the costs of preparing and distributing promotional materials; (vi) the cost of printing the Funds' Prospectus and Statement of Additional Information for distribution to potential investors; (vii) website maintenance fees; (viii) interest on loan; (ix) bank fees; (x) temporary help; (xi) telephone; (xii) Raymond James Wrap Program; (xiii) consulting/research; (xiv) consulting/research fee; (xv) Advisor Class Shares trailer commission; and (xvi) other activities that are reasonably calculated to result in the sale of shares of the Funds.

A portion of the fees paid to Foreside, the Adviser and/or others pursuant to the Plan, not exceeding 0.25% annually of the average daily net assets of each Fund's shares, may be paid as compensation for providing services to each Fund's shareholders, including assistance in connection with inquiries related to shareholder accounts (the "Service Fees"). In order to receive Service Fees under the Plan, participants must meet such qualifications as are established in the sole discretion of Foreside, such as services to each Fund's shareholders; services providing each Fund with more efficient methods of offering shares to coherent groups of clients, members or prospects of a participant; services permitting more efficient methods of purchasing and selling shares; or transmission of orders for the purchase or sale of shares by computerized tape or other electronic equipment; or other processing.

The Board of Trustees has concluded that there is a reasonable likelihood that the Plan will benefit each Fund and its shareholders and that the Plan should result in greater sales and/or fewer redemptions of Fund shares. On a quarterly basis, the Trustees will review a report on expenditures under the Plan and the purposes for which expenditures were made. The Trustees will conduct an additional review annually in determining whether the Plan should be continued. Continuation of the Plan from year to year is contingent on annual approval by a majority of the Trustees acting separately on behalf of each Fund and Class and by a majority of the Trustees who are not "interested persons" (as defined in the 1940 Act) and who have no direct or indirect financial interest in the operation of the Plan or any related agreements (the "Plan Trustees"). The Plan provides that it may not be amended to increase materially the costs that a Fund may bear pursuant to the Plan without approval of the shareholders of the Advisor Class shares of each Fund and that other material amendments to the Plan must be approved by a majority of the Plan Trustees acting separately on behalf of each Fund, by vote cast in person at a meeting called for the purpose of considering such amendments. The Plan further provides that while the Plan is in effect, the selection and nomination of Trustees who are not "interested persons" shall be committed to the discretion of the Trustees who are not "interested persons." The Plan may be terminated at any time by vote of a majority of the Fund Trustees or a majority of the outstanding Advisor Class shares of the affected Fund to which the Plan relates.

Total dollar amounts paid, including amounts reimbursed to the Fund by the Adviser, by each of the Funds pursuant to the Plans for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 are as follows:

NAME OF FUND	ADVISOR CLASS (formerly CLASS A)	
Quaker Global Tactical Allocation Fund	\$ 3,707	\$ 8,943
Quaker Mid-Cap Value Fund	\$ 9,477	\$ 15,030
Quaker Small/Mid-Cap Impact Value Fund	\$ 13,924	\$ 12,515
Quaker Impact Growth Fund	\$ 118,782	\$120,257

Amounts spent on behalf of each of the Funds on various items pursuant to the Plans during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Advisor Class Shares (formerly Class A Shares)

Name of Fund	<u>Advertising</u>	Printing & Mailing of Prospectuses to Other Than Current Shareholders	Compensation to Underwriters	Compensation to <u>Broker-Dealers</u>	Compensation to Sales <u>Personnel</u>	Interest, Carrying, or Other Financing <u>Charges</u>	Other*
Quaker Global Tactical Allocation Fund	\$0	¢Ω	\$501	\$3,732	\$0	\$0	\$89
Ouaker Mid-Cap Value	\$0	\$0	\$301	\$5,752	\$0	\$0	\$69
Fund	\$0	\$0	\$1,290	\$9,463	\$0	\$0	\$230
Quaker Small/Mid-Cap							
Impact Value	ΦO	Φ.Ο.	¢1 000	¢12.922	ΦO	Φ0	ф 22 4
Fund Quaker Impact	\$0	\$0	\$1,882	\$12,832	\$0	\$0	\$334
Growth Fund	\$0	\$0	\$15,655	\$119,219	\$0	\$0	\$2,890

^{*} The category designated as "Other" includes fees paid in connection with dealer services and wholesaler activities.

Shareholder Servicing Fees. Pursuant to a Shareholder Service and Processing Plan (the "Shareholder Servicing Plan") adopted by the Trust on behalf of the Funds, the Adviser is authorized to engage financial institutions, securities dealers and other industry professionals ("Shareholder Servicing Agent") to provide personal shareholder services relating to the servicing and maintenance of shareholder accounts not otherwise provided to the Funds. Payments made pursuant to the Shareholder Servicing Plan shall not exceed 0.20% of the average daily net asset value of a Fund's share Class.

Payments of the shareholder servicing component of the fee shall be used to compensate Shareholder Servicing Agents for providing general shareholder liaison services, including, but not limited to: (i) answering inquiries from shareholders regarding account status and history, the manner in which purchases and redemptions of the Fund shares may be effected, and other matters pertaining to the Funds; (ii) assisting shareholders in designating and changing dividend options, account designations and addresses; (iii) arranging for wiring of funds and transmitting and receiving funds in connection with orders to purchase or redeem Fund shares; (iv) verifying and guaranteeing shareholder signatures in connection with orders to purchase or redeem Fund shares; (v) providing such other similar services related to the maintenance of shareholder accounts; and (vi) providing necessary personnel and facilities to conduct the activities described above.

Payment of the processing component of the fee shall be used to compensate Shareholder Servicing Agents for serving as agents of the Trust for the limited purpose of accepting orders to purchase or redeem Fund shares of the applicable Class and the provision of processing and administrative services on behalf of such Class, including, but not limited to: (i) aggregating and processing purchase, exchange and redemption requests and placing net

purchase and redemption orders with the Fund's transfer agent or distributor; (ii) processing dividend payments from the Fund on behalf of shareholders; (iii) providing sub-accounting for Fund shares held of record by the Shareholder Servicing Agent that are beneficially owned by shareholders or the information necessary for such sub-accounting; (iv) transmitting, on behalf of the Fund, proxy statements, shareholder reports, Prospectuses, dividend and tax notices and other communications from the Fund to the beneficial owners of Fund shares (other than marketing materials pursuant to a Rule 12b-1 plan); (v) receiving, tabulating and transmitting to the Fund or the Fund's designated proxy agent proxies executed by shareholders with respect to shareholder meetings; (vi) providing periodic statements showing account balances and, to the extent practicable, integrating such information with other transactions otherwise effected by the Shareholder Servicing Agent; (vii) furnishing (either separately or on an integrated basis with other reports sent to an account by a Shareholder Servicing Agent) monthly and annual statements and confirmations of all purchases and redemptions of Fund shares; (viii) providing such other similar services as the Trust or the Adviser may request; and (ix) providing necessary personnel and facilities to conduct the processing services described above. The Funds may reimburse the Adviser for expenses advanced by the Adviser on behalf of the Funds in connection with the Shareholder Servicing Plan.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the Funds paid the following Shareholder Servicing Agents for providing shareholder services:

Ameriprise Financial Services, Inc.
Charles Schwab & Co., Inc.
LPL Financial Corporation
Merrill Lynch
MSCS Financial Services LLC
National Financial Services, LLC
Pershing LLC
Raymond James Financial Services
RBC Capital Markets LLC
TD Ameritrade
UBS Financial Services, Inc.
Vanguard Advisers, Inc.
Wells Fargo Advisors LLC

The amounts each Fund paid under the Shareholder Servicing Plan, including amounts reimbursed to the Adviser, during the fiscal years indicated are shown below:

Shareholder Servicing Fees Paid During Fiscal Years Ended June 30,

Fund Name	2018	2017	2016
Quaker Global Tactical Allocation Fund	\$ 4,269	\$ 6,185	\$ 8,862
Quaker Mid-Cap Value Fund	\$ 6,066	\$ 7,238	\$ 8,474
Quaker Small/Mid-Cap Impact Value Fund	\$ 9,052	\$ 11,772	\$ 13,554
Quaker Impact Growth Fund	\$ 67,893	\$ 81,917	\$ 136,506

CUSTODIAN

Pursuant to a custody agreement between the Funds and U.S. Bank, N.A., 1555 North RiverCenter Drive, Suite 302, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53212 (the "Custodian"), the Custodian serves as the custodian of the Funds' assets, holds the Funds' portfolio securities in safekeeping and keeps all necessary records and documents relating to its duties. The Custodian is compensated with an asset-based fee plus transaction fees and is reimbursed for

out-of-pocket expenses. The Custodian and its affiliates may participate in revenue sharing arrangements with service providers of mutual funds in which the Funds may invest.

TRANSFER AGENT AND ADMINISTRATOR

U.S. Bancorp Fund Services, LLC, doing business as U.S. Bank Global Fund Services ("Fund Services"), located at 615 East Michigan Street, 3rd Floor, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202-5207, serves as the Fund's transfer, dividend paying, and shareholder servicing agent.

Fund Services, subject to the supervision of the Board of Trustees, provides certain services pursuant to an agreement with the Trust ("Transfer Agent Servicing Agreement"). Fund Services maintains the records of each shareholder's account, answers shareholder inquiries concerning accounts, processes purchases and redemptions of Fund shares, acts as dividend and distribution disbursing agent, and performs other shareholder servicing functions.

Fund Services also serves as administrator to the Trust pursuant to a written agreement with the Trust. Fund Services supervises all aspects of the operations of the Fund except those performed by the Fund's Adviser under the Fund's investment advisory agreement. Fund Services is responsible for:

- (a) calculating the Fund's net asset value;
- (b) preparing and maintaining the books and accounts specified in Rules 31a-1 and 31a-2 of the 1940 Act;
- (c) preparing financial statements contained in reports to stockholders of the Fund;
- (d) preparing the Fund's federal and state tax returns;
- (e) preparing certain reports and filings with the SEC; and
- (f) maintaining the Fund's financial accounts and records.

For its services to the Trust, the Trust pays Fund Services an annual fee, paid monthly, based on the aggregate average net assets of the Funds, as determined by valuations made as of the close of business at the end of the month. Each Fund is charged its pro rata share of such expenses.

For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2017, and 2016, the Funds paid the following amounts to Fund Services for its fund administration services:

	Fiscal Year ended	Fiscal Year ended	Fiscal Year ended
Fund Name	June 30, 2018	<u>June 30, 2017</u>	June 30, 2016
Quaker Global Tactical Allocation Fund	\$ 7,301	\$ 9,093	\$ 7,157
Quaker Mid-Cap Value Fund	\$ 9,814	\$ 9,193	\$ 5,924
Quaker Small/Mid-Cap Impact Value Fund	\$ 39,631	\$ 39,725	\$ 27,437
Quaker Impact Growth Fund	\$ 102,224	\$ 98,529	\$ 91,408

LEGAL COUNSEL

Stradley Ronon Stevens & Young, LLP, located at One Commerce Square, Suite 2600, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103, serves as counsel to the Trust and to the Independent Trustees of the Trust.

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Tait, Weller & Baker LLP, located at 1818 Market Street, Suite 2400, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103, is the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for the Trust.

CODES OF ETHICS

Pursuant to Rule 17j-1 of the 1940 Act and Rule 204A-1 of the Advisers Act, the Adviser and Distributor have each adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to the personal trading activities of their employees. The Codes of Ethics establishes standards for personal securities transactions by employees covered under the Codes of Ethics. Under the Codes of Ethics, employees have a duty at all times to place the interests of shareholders above their own, and never to take inappropriate advantage of their position. As such, employees are prohibited from engaging in, or recommending, any securities transaction that involves any actual or potential conflict of interest, or any abuse of an employee's position of trust and responsibility. Under the Codes of Ethics, persons subject to the Codes are permitted to engage in personal securities transactions, including securities that may be purchased or held by the Funds, subject to the requirements of Rule 17j-1 under the 1940 Act and certain other procedures set forth in the applicable code.

Copies of the Codes of Ethics are on file with and publicly available from the SEC.

REPORTS TO SHAREHOLDERS

The fiscal year of the Trust ends on June 30. Shareholders of each Fund will be provided at least semi-annually with reports showing the portfolio of the Fund and other information, including an annual report with financial statements audited by the independent registered accountants. In addition, the Trust will send to each shareholder having an account directly with the Trust a quarterly statement showing transactions in the account, the total number of shares owned and any dividends or distributions paid. Inquiries regarding any Fund may be directed in writing to U.S. Bank Global Fund Services, P.O. Box 701, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53201 or by calling 800-220-8888.

BROKERAGE ALLOCATION

The advisory agreement provides that the Adviser shall be responsible for the selection of brokers and dealers for the execution of the portfolio transactions of the respective Funds that it advises and, when applicable, the negotiation of commissions in connection therewith. The Trust has no obligations to deal with any broker-dealer or group of brokers or dealers in the execution of transactions in portfolio securities.

Purchase and sale orders will usually be placed with brokers who are selected based on their ability to achieve "best execution" of such orders. "Best execution" means prompt and reliable execution at the most favorable security price, taking into account the other provisions hereinafter set forth. The determination of what may constitute best execution and price in the execution of a securities transaction by a broker involves a number of considerations, including the overall direct net economic result to the Fund (involving both price paid or received and any commissions and other costs paid), the efficiency with which the transaction is effected, the ability to effect the transaction at all where a large block is involved, the availability of the broker to stand ready to execute possibly difficult transactions in the future, and the financial strength and stability of the broker. Such considerations are weighed by the Adviser in determining the overall reasonableness of brokerage commissions.

The Adviser is authorized to allocate brokerage and principal business to brokers who have provided brokerage and research services, as such services are defined in Section 28(e) of the 1934 Act, for the Trust and/or other accounts for which the Adviser exercises investment discretion (as defined in Section 3(a)(35) of the 1934 Act) and, as to transactions for which fixed minimum commission rates are not applicable, to cause a Fund to pay a commission for effecting a securities transaction in excess of the amount another broker would have charged for effecting that transaction, if the Adviser determines in good faith that such amount of commission is reasonable in relation to the value of the brokerage and research services provided by such broker, viewed in terms of either that particular transaction or the Adviser's overall responsibilities with respect to the Fund managed by the Adviser. In reaching such determination, the Adviser will not be required to place or to attempt to place a specific dollar value on the research or execution services of a broker or on the portion of any commission reflecting either of said services. Research services provided by brokers to the Advisers includes that which brokerage houses customarily provide to institutional investors and statistical and economic data and research reports on particular companies and industries.

The Adviser may purchase or sell portfolio securities on behalf of a Fund in agency or principal transactions. In agency transactions, the Fund generally pays brokerage commissions. In principal transactions, the Fund generally does not pay commissions. However, the aggregate price paid for the security will usually include an undisclosed "mark-up" or selling concession. The Adviser normally purchases fixed- income securities on a net basis from primary market makers acting as principals for the securities. The Adviser may purchase certain money market instruments directly from an issuer without paying commissions or discounts.

The Adviser may aggregate sale and purchase orders for the Funds with similar orders made simultaneously for other clients of the Adviser. The Adviser will do so when, in its judgment, such aggregation will result in overall economic benefit to the Fund managed by the Adviser, taking into consideration the advantageous selling or purchase price, brokerage commission, and other expenses.

The amount of brokerage commissions paid by each Fund during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018, 2017, and 2016, are set forth below:

	Commissions Paid					
Name of Fund	2018	2017	2016			
Quaker Global Tactical Allocation Fund	\$ 4,837	\$ 10,299	\$ 22,280			
Quaker Mid-Cap Value Fund	\$ 3,569	\$ 4,744	\$ 14,364			
Quaker Small/Mid-Cap Impact Value Fund	\$ 54,676	\$ 48,185	\$ 43,671			
Quaker Impact Growth Fund	\$ 46,017	\$ 71,835	\$ 204,943			

As of June 30, 2018, each of the Funds did not own any securities (excluding repurchase agreements) issued by any of the ten broker-dealers with whom the Funds transacted the most business during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the Funds directed brokerage transactions to brokers who have provided brokerage and research services. The amount of such transactions and related commissions were as follows:

Name of Fund	Amount of Research Commissions <u>Transactions</u>	Amount of Research Commission
Quaker Global Tactical Allocation Fund	\$5,986,354	\$4,837
Quaker Mid-Cap Value Fund	\$6,740,995	\$3,569
Quaker Small/Mid-Cap Impact Value Fund	\$37,761,034	\$38,199
Quaker Impact Growth Fund	\$108,141,146	\$35,474

AFFILIATED BROKERAGE TRANSACTIONS

When buying or selling securities, the Adviser may execute trades for a Fund with broker-dealers that are affiliated with the Trust, the Adviser or its affiliates, and the Fund may pay commissions to such broker-dealers in accordance with procedures adopted by the Board of Trustees. The Trust has adopted procedures to monitor and control such affiliated brokerage transactions, which are reported to and reviewed by the Board of Trustees at least quarterly.

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

The Trust offers Advisor Class, and Institutional Class Shares. Each class involves different expenses as described more fully in the Prospectus.

PURCHASES AND SALES THROUGH BROKERS

The Funds have authorized one or more brokers to receive on their behalf purchase and redemption orders. Such brokers are authorized to designate intermediaries to receive orders on the Funds' behalf. A Fund will be deemed to have received an order when an authorized broker or broker-authorized designee receives the order. Customer orders, in such cases, will be priced at the Fund's net asset value per share next computed after they are received by an authorized broker or the broker-authorized designee.

REDEEMING SHARES

Redemptions of each Fund's shares will be made at net asset value ("NAV"). Each Fund's NAV is determined on days on which the NYSE Arca is open for trading, as discussed further below.

Redemptions In-Kind. The Funds do not intend, under normal circumstances, to redeem their securities by payment in-kind. It is possible, however, that conditions may arise in the future which would, in the opinion of the Trustees, make it undesirable for the Funds to pay for all redemptions in cash. In such case, the Board of Trustees may authorize payment to be made in readily marketable portfolio securities of the Fund. Securities delivered in payment of redemptions would be valued at the same value assigned to them in computing the net asset value per share. Shareholders receiving them would incur brokerage costs when these securities are sold. An irrevocable election has been filed under Rule 18f-1 of the 1940 Act, wherein each Fund has committed itself to pay redemptions in cash, rather than in-kind, to any shareholder of record of the Fund who redeems during any ninety-day period, the lesser of: (a) \$250,000; or (b) one percent (1%) of the Fund's NAV at the beginning of such period.

NET ASSET VALUE, DIVIDENDS AND TAXES

NET ASSET VALUE

Each Fund determines its NAV each day NYSE Arca is open for trading. The NYSE Arca is closed to observe the following holidays, in addition to Saturdays and Sundays: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King, Jr. Day, Presidents Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day.

Portfolio securities, including ADRs and options, which are traded on stock exchanges, will be valued at the last sale price as of the close of business on the day the securities are being valued or, lacking any sales, at the last available bid price. Securities traded in the over-the counter market and listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market ("NASDAQ") are normally valued at the NASDAQ Official Closing Price. Other over-the-counter market securities will be valued at the last available bid price in the over-the-counter market prior to the time of valuation. Money market securities will be valued at market value. The other securities and assets of each Fund for which market quotations may not be readily available (including restricted securities which are subject to limitations as to their sale) will be valued at fair value as determined in good faith by or under the direction of the Board of Trustees. Securities quoted in foreign currencies will be converted to U.S. dollar equivalents using prevailing market exchange rates.

Suspension of the Determination of Net Asset Value. The Board of Trustees may suspend the determination of net asset value and, accordingly, redemptions for a Fund for the whole or any part of any period during which: (i) NYSE Arca is closed (other than for customary weekend and holiday closings); (ii) trading on NYSE Arca is restricted; (iii) an emergency exists as a result of which disposal of securities owned by the Fund is not reasonably practicable or it is not reasonably practicable for the Fund fairly to determine the value of its net assets; or (iv) the SEC may by order permit for the protection of the holders of the Fund's shares.

DIVIDENDS AND TAXES

The following is a summary of certain additional tax considerations generally affecting a Fund and its shareholders that are not described in the Prospectus. No attempt is made to present a detailed explanation of the

tax treatment of a Fund or its shareholders, and the discussion here and in the Prospectus is not intended as a substitute for careful tax planning.

This "Dividends and Taxes" section is based on the Code and applicable regulations in effect on the date of this SAI. Future legislative, regulatory or administrative changes, including provisions of current law that sunset and thereafter no longer apply, or court decisions may significantly change the tax rules applicable to a Fund and its shareholders. Any of these changes or court decisions may have a retroactive effect.

This is for general information only and not tax advice. All investors should consult their own tax advisors as to the federal, state, local and foreign tax provisions applicable to them.

Taxation of the Funds. Each Fund has elected and intends to qualify, or, if newly organized, intends to elect and qualify, each year as a regulated investment company (sometimes referred to as a "regulated investment company," "RIC" or "fund") under Subchapter M of the Code. If a Fund so qualifies, the Fund will not be subject to federal income tax on the portion of its investment company taxable income (that is, generally, taxable interest, dividends, net short-term capital gains, and other taxable ordinary income, net of expenses, without regard to the deduction for dividends paid) and net capital gain (that is, the excess of net long-term capital gains over net short-term capital losses) that it distributes to shareholders.

In order to qualify for treatment as a regulated investment company, each Fund must satisfy the following requirements:

- Distribution Requirement—a Fund must distribute an amount equal to the sum of at least 90% of its investment company taxable income and 90% of its net tax-exempt income, if any, for the tax year (including, for purposes of satisfying this distribution requirement, certain distributions made by the Fund after the close of its taxable year that are treated as made during such taxable year).
- Income Requirement—a Fund must derive at least 90% of its gross income from dividends, interest, certain payments with respect to securities loans, and gains from the sale or other disposition of stock, securities or foreign currencies, or other income (including, but not limited to, gains from options, futures or forward contracts) derived from its business of investing in such stock, securities or currencies and net income derived from qualified publicly traded partnerships ("QPTPs").
- Asset Diversification Test—a Fund must satisfy the following asset diversification test at the close of each quarter of the Fund's tax year: (1) at least 50% of the value of the Fund's assets must consist of cash and cash items, U.S. Government securities, securities of other regulated investment companies, and securities of other issuers (as to which the Fund has not invested more than 5% of the value of the Fund's total assets in securities of an issuer and as to which the Fund does not hold more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of the issuer); and (2) no more than 25% of the value of the Fund's total assets may be invested in the securities of any one issuer (other than U.S. Government securities or securities of other regulated investment companies) or of two or more issuers which the Fund controls and which are engaged in the same or similar trades or businesses, or, in the securities of one or more OPTPs.

In some circumstances, the character and timing of income realized by a Fund for purposes of the Income Requirement or the identification of the issuer for purposes of the Asset Diversification Test is uncertain under current law with respect to a particular investment, and an adverse determination or future guidance by the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") with respect to such type of investment may adversely affect a Fund's ability to satisfy these requirements. See, "Tax Treatment of Portfolio Transactions" below with respect to the application of these requirements to certain types of investments. In other circumstances, a Fund may be required to sell portfolio holdings in order to meet the Income Requirement, Distribution Requirement, or Asset Diversification Test, which may have a negative impact on the Fund's income and performance.

Each Fund may use "equalization accounting" (in lieu of making some cash distributions) in determining the portion of its income and gains that has been distributed. If a Fund uses equalization accounting, it will allocate a portion of its undistributed investment company taxable income and net capital gain to redemptions of Fund shares and will correspondingly reduce the amount of such income and gains that it distributes in cash. If the IRS determines that a Fund's allocation is improper and that the Fund has under-distributed its income and gain for any taxable year, the Fund may be liable for federal income and/or excise tax. If, as a result of such adjustment, the Fund fails to satisfy the Distribution Requirement, the Fund will not qualify that year as a regulated investment company the effect of which is described in the following paragraph.

If for any taxable year a Fund does not qualify as a regulated investment company, all of its taxable income (including its net capital gain) would be subject to tax at the applicable corporate income tax rate without any deduction for dividends paid to shareholders, and the dividends would be taxable to the shareholders as ordinary income (or possibly as qualified dividend income) to the extent of the Fund's current and accumulated earnings and profits. Failure to qualify as a regulated investment company would thus have a negative impact on a Fund's income and performance. Subject to savings provisions for certain failures to satisfy the Income Requirement or Asset Diversification Test, which, in general, are limited to those due to reasonable cause and not willful neglect, it is possible that a Fund will not qualify as a regulated investment company in any given tax year. Even if such savings provisions apply, a Fund may be subject to a monetary sanction of \$50,000 or more. Moreover, the Board reserves the right not to maintain the qualification of a Fund as a regulated investment company if it determines such a course of action to be beneficial to shareholders.

Portfolio Turnover. For investors that hold their Fund shares in a taxable account, a high portfolio turnover rate may result in higher taxes. This is because a fund with a high turnover rate is likely to accelerate the recognition of capital gains and more of such gains are likely to be taxable as short-term rather than long-term capital gains in contrast to a comparable fund with a low turnover rate. Any such higher taxes would reduce the Fund's after-tax performance. See "Taxation of Fund Distributions—Distributions of Capital Gains" below. For non-U.S. investors, any such acceleration of the recognition of capital gains that results in more short-term and less long-term capital gains being recognized by a Fund may cause such investors to be subject to increased U.S. withholding taxes. See "Non-U.S. Investors—Capital Gain Dividends" and "Short-Term Capital Gain Dividends and Interest-Related Dividends" below.

Capital Loss Carryovers. The capital losses of a Fund, if any, do not flow through to shareholders. Rather, a Fund may use its capital losses, subject to applicable limitations, to offset its capital gains without being required to pay taxes on or distribute to shareholders such gains that are offset by the losses. If a Fund has a "net capital loss" (that is, capital losses in excess of capital gains) the excess (if any) of the Fund's net short-term capital losses over its net long-term capital gains is treated as a short-term capital loss arising on the first day of the Fund's next taxable year, and the excess (if any) of the Fund's net long-term capital losses over its net short-term capital gains is treated as a long-term capital loss arising on the first day of the Fund's next taxable year. Any such net capital losses of a Fund that are not used to offset capital gains may be carried forward indefinitely to reduce any future capital gains realized by the Fund in succeeding taxable years. However, for any net capital losses realized in taxable years of a Fund beginning on or before December 22, 2010, the Fund is only permitted to carry forward such capital losses for eight years as a short-term capital loss. Capital losses arising in a taxable year beginning after December 22, 2010 must be used before capital losses realized in a taxable year beginning on or before December 22, 2010.

The amount of capital losses that can be carried forward and used in any single year is subject to an annual limitation if there is a more than 50% "change in ownership" of a Fund. An ownership change generally results when shareholders owning 5% or more of a Fund increase their aggregate holdings by more than 50% over a three-year look-back period. An ownership change could result in capital loss carryovers being used at a slower rate (or, in the case of those realized in taxable years of a Fund beginning on or before December 22, 2010, to expire unutilized), thereby reducing a Fund's ability to offset capital gains with those losses. An increase in the amount of taxable gains distributed to a Fund's shareholders could result from an ownership change. The Funds undertake no obligation to avoid or prevent an ownership change, which can occur in the normal course of shareholder purchases and redemptions or as a result of engaging in a tax-free reorganization with another fund. Moreover, because of circumstances beyond a Fund's control, there can be no assurance that a Fund will not experience, or has not already experienced, an ownership change. Additionally, if a Fund engages in a tax-free

reorganization with another fund, the effect of these and other rules not discussed herein may be to disallow or postpone the use by a Fund of its capital loss carryovers (including any current year losses and built-in losses when realized) to offset its own gains or those of the other fund, or vice versa, thereby reducing the tax benefits Fund shareholders would otherwise have enjoyed from use of such capital loss carryovers.

Deferral of Late Year Losses. A Fund may elect to treat part or all of any "qualified late year loss" as if it had been incurred in the succeeding taxable year in determining the Fund's taxable income, net capital gain, net short-term capital gain, and earnings and profits. The effect of this election is to treat any such "qualified late year loss" as if it had been incurred in the succeeding taxable year in characterizing Fund distributions for any calendar year (see, "Taxation of Fund Distributions—Distributions of capital gains" below). A "qualified late year loss" includes:

- (i) any net capital loss incurred after October 31 of the current taxable year, or, if there is no such loss, any net long-term capital loss, or net short-term capital loss incurred after October 31 of the current taxable year ("post-October capital losses"), and
- (ii) the sum of (1) the excess, if any, of (a) specified losses incurred after October 31 of the current taxable year, over (b) specified gains incurred after October 31 of the current taxable year and (2) the excess, if any, of (a) ordinary losses incurred after December 31 of the current taxable year, over (b) the ordinary income incurred after December 31 of the current taxable year.

The terms "specified losses" and "specified gains" mean ordinary losses and gains from the sale, exchange, or other disposition of property (including the termination of a position with respect to such property), foreign currency losses and gains, and losses and gains resulting from holding stock in a passive foreign investment company ("PFIC") for which a mark-to-market election is in effect. The terms "ordinary losses" and "ordinary income" mean other ordinary losses and income that are not described in the preceding sentence.

Undistributed Capital Gains. A Fund may retain or distribute to shareholders its net capital gain for each taxable year. The Funds currently intend to distribute net capital gains. If a Fund elects to retain its net capital gain, the Fund will be taxed thereon (except to the extent of any available capital loss carryovers) at the applicable corporate income tax rate. If a Fund elects to retain its net capital gain, it is expected that the Fund also will elect to have shareholders treated as if each received a distribution of its pro rata share of such gain, with the result that each shareholder will be required to report its pro rata share of such gain on its tax return as long-term capital gain, will receive a refundable tax credit for its pro rata share of tax paid by the Fund on the gain, and will increase the tax basis for its shares by an amount equal to the deemed distribution less the tax credit.

Federal Excise Tax. To avoid a 4% non-deductible excise tax, a Fund must distribute by December 31 of each year an amount equal to at least: (1) 98% of its ordinary income for the calendar year, (2) 98.2% of capital gain net income (that is, the excess of the gains from sales or exchanges of capital assets over the losses from such sales or exchanges) for the one-year period ended on October 31 of such calendar year, and (3) any prior year undistributed ordinary income and capital gain net income. A Fund may elect to defer to the following year any net ordinary loss incurred for the portion of the calendar year which is after the beginning of the Fund's taxable year. Also, a Fund will defer any "specified gain" or "specified loss" which would be properly taken into account for the portion of the calendar year after October 31. Any net ordinary loss, specified gain, or specified loss deferred shall be treated as arising on January 1 of the following calendar year. Generally, each Fund intends to make sufficient distributions prior to the end of each calendar year to avoid any material liability for federal income and excise tax, but can give no assurances that all or a portion of such liability will be avoided. In addition, under certain circumstances, temporary timing or permanent differences in the realization of income and expense for book and tax purposes can result in a Fund having to pay an excise tax.

Foreign Income Tax. Investment income received by a Fund from sources within foreign countries may be subject to foreign income tax withheld at the source and the amount of tax withheld generally will be treated as an expense of the Fund. The United States has entered into tax treaties with many foreign countries which entitle a Fund to a reduced rate of, or exemption from, tax on such income. Some countries require the filing of a tax

reclaim or other forms to receive the benefit of the reduced tax rate; whether or when the Fund will receive the tax reclaim is within the control of the individual country. Information required on these forms may not be available such as shareholder information; therefore, the Fund may not receive the reduced treaty rates or potential reclaims. Other countries have conflicting and changing instructions and restrictive timing requirements which may cause the Fund not to receive the reduced treaty rates or potential reclaims. Other countries may subject capital gains realized by the Fund on sale or disposition of securities of that country to taxation. It is impossible to determine the effective rate of foreign tax in advance since the amount of a Fund's assets to be invested in various countries is not known. Under certain circumstances, a Fund may elect to pass-through foreign taxes paid by the Fund to shareholders, although it reserves the right not to do so. If the Fund makes such an election and obtains a refund of foreign taxes paid by the Fund in a prior year, the Fund may be eligible to reduce the amount of foreign taxes reported by the Fund to its shareholders, generally by the amount of the foreign taxes refunded, for the year in which the refund is received.

Taxation of Fund Distributions. Each Fund anticipates distributing substantially all of its investment company taxable income and net capital gain for each taxable year. Distributions by a Fund will be treated in the manner described below regardless of whether such distributions are paid in cash or reinvested in additional shares of the Fund (or of another fund). Each Fund will send you information annually as to the federal income tax consequences of distributions made (or deemed made) during the year.

Distributions of Net Investment Income. Each Fund receives ordinary income generally in the form of dividends and/or interest on its investments. A Fund may also recognize ordinary income from other sources, including, but not limited to, certain gains on foreign currency-related transactions. This income, less expenses incurred in the operation of a Fund, constitutes a Fund's net investment income from which dividends may be paid to you. If you are a taxable investor, distributions of net investment income generally are taxable as ordinary income to the extent of a Fund's earnings and profits. In the case of a Fund whose strategy includes investing in stocks of corporations, a portion of the income dividends paid to you may be qualified dividends eligible to be taxed at reduced rates. See the discussion below under the headings, "—Qualified Dividend Income for Individuals" and "—Dividends-Received Deduction for Corporations."

Distributions of Capital Gains. Each Fund may derive capital gain and loss in connection with sales or other dispositions of its portfolio securities. Distributions derived from the excess of net short-term capital gain over net long-term capital loss will be taxable to you as ordinary income. Distributions paid from the excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss will be taxable to you as long-term capital gain, regardless of how long you have held your shares in a Fund. Any net short-term or long-term capital gain realized by a Fund (net of any capital loss carryovers) generally will be distributed once each year and may be distributed more frequently, if necessary, in order to reduce or eliminate federal excise or income taxes on the Fund.

Returns of Capital. Distributions by a Fund that are not paid from earnings and profits will be treated as a return of capital to the extent of (and in reduction of) the shareholder's tax basis in his or her shares; any excess will be treated as gain from the sale of his or her shares. Thus, the portion of a distribution that constitutes a return of capital will decrease the shareholder's tax basis in his or her Fund shares (but not below zero), and will result in an increase in the amount of gain (or decrease in the amount of loss) that will be recognized by the shareholder for tax purposes on the later sale of such Fund shares. Return of capital distributions can occur for a number of reasons including, among others, a Fund over-estimates the income to be received from certain investments such as those classified as partnerships or equity REITs (see "Tax Treatment of Portfolio Transactions—Investments in U.S. REITs" below).

Qualified Dividend Income for Individuals. Ordinary income dividends reported by a Fund to shareholders as derived from qualified dividend income will be taxed in the hands of individuals and other noncorporate shareholders at the rates applicable to long-term capital gain. "Qualified dividend income" means dividends paid to a Fund (a) by domestic corporations, (b) by foreign corporations that are either (i) incorporated in a possession of the United States, or (ii) are eligible for benefits under certain income tax treaties with the United States that include an exchange of information program, or (c) with respect to stock of a foreign

corporation that is readily tradable on an established securities market in the United States. Both a Fund and the investor must meet certain holding period requirements to qualify Fund dividends for this treatment. Specifically, the Fund must hold the stock for at least 61 days during the 121-day period beginning 60 days before the stock becomes ex-dividend. Similarly, investors must hold their Fund shares for at least 61 days during the 121-day period beginning 60 days before a Fund distribution goes ex-dividend. Income derived from investments in derivatives, fixed-income securities, U.S. REITs and PFICs generally is not eligible for treatment as qualified dividend income. If the qualifying dividend income received by a Fund is equal to or greater than 95% of the Fund's gross income (exclusive of net capital gain) in any taxable year, all of the ordinary income dividends paid by the Fund will be qualifying dividend income.

Dividends-Received Deduction for Corporations. For corporate shareholders, a portion of the dividends paid by a Fund may qualify for the 50% corporate dividends-received deduction. The portion of dividends paid by a Fund that so qualifies will be reported by the Fund to shareholders each year and cannot exceed the gross amount of dividends received by the Fund from domestic (U.S.) corporations. The availability of the dividendsreceived deduction is subject to certain holding period and debt financing restrictions that apply to both the Fund and the investor. Specifically, the amount that a Fund may report as eligible for the dividends-received deduction will be reduced or eliminated if the shares on which the dividends earned by the Fund were debtfinanced or held by the Fund for less than a minimum period of time, generally 46 days during a 91-day period beginning 45 days before the stock becomes ex-dividend. Similarly, if your Fund shares are debt-financed or held by you for less than a 46-day period then the dividends-received deduction for Fund dividends on your shares may also be reduced or eliminated. Even if reported as dividends eligible for the dividends-received deduction, all dividends (including any deducted portion) must be included in your alternative minimum taxable income calculation. (Under 2017 legislation commonly known as the "Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("TCJA"), corporations are no longer subject to the alternative minimum tax for taxable years of the corporation beginning after December 31, 2017.) Income derived by a Fund from investments in derivatives, fixed-income and foreign securities generally is not eligible for this treatment.

Qualified REIT dividends. Under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act "qualified REIT dividends" (i.e., ordinary REIT dividends other than capital gain dividends and portions of REIT dividends designated as qualified dividend income) are treated as eligible for a 20% deduction by noncorporate taxpayers. This deduction, if allowed in full, equates to a maximum effective tax rate of 29.6% (37% top rate applied to income after 20% deduction). The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act does not contain a provision permitting a regulated investment company, such as the Fund, to pass the special character of this income through to its shareholders. Currently, direct investors in REITs will enjoy the deduction and thus the lower federal income tax rate, but investors in a RIC, such as the Fund, that invest in such REITs will not. It is uncertain whether a future technical corrections bill or regulations issued by the IRS will address this issue to enable the Fund to pass through the special character of "qualified REIT dividends" to its shareholders.

Impact of Realized but Undistributed Income and Gains, and Net Unrealized Appreciation of Portfolio Securities. At the time of your purchase of shares, the Fund's net asset value may reflect undistributed income, undistributed capital gains, or net unrealized appreciation of portfolio securities held by the Fund. A subsequent distribution to you of such amounts, although constituting a return of your investment, would be taxable, and would be taxed as ordinary income (some portion of which may be taxed as qualified dividend income), capital gains, or some combination of both, unless you are investing through a tax-advantaged arrangement, such as a 401(k) plan or an individual retirement account. A Fund may be able to reduce the amount of such distributions from capital gains by utilizing its capital loss carryovers, if any.

Pass-Through of Foreign Tax Credits. If more than 50% of a Fund's total assets at the end of a fiscal year is invested in foreign securities, the Fund may elect to pass through to you your pro rata share of foreign taxes paid by the Fund. If this election is made, a Fund may report more taxable income to you than it actually distributes. You will then be entitled either to deduct your share of these taxes in computing your taxable income, or to claim a foreign tax credit for these taxes against your U.S. federal income tax (subject to limitations for certain shareholders). A Fund will provide you with the information necessary to claim this deduction or credit on your personal income tax return if it makes this election. No deduction for foreign tax may be claimed by a

noncorporate shareholder who does not itemize deductions or who is subject to the alternative minimum tax. Shareholders may be unable to claim a credit for the full amount of their proportionate shares of the foreign income tax paid by the Fund due to certain limitations that may apply. Each Fund reserves the right not to pass through to its shareholders the amount of foreign income taxes paid by the Fund.

U.S. Government Securities. Income earned on certain U.S. government obligations is exempt from state and local personal income taxes if earned directly by you. States also grant tax-free status to dividends paid to you from interest earned on direct obligations of the U.S. government, subject in some states to minimum investment or reporting requirements that must be met by a Fund. Income on investments by a Fund in certain other obligations, such as repurchase agreements collateralized by U.S. government obligations, commercial paper and federal agency-backed obligations (e.g., GNMA or FNMA obligations), generally does not qualify for tax-free treatment. The rules on exclusion of this income are different for corporations.

Dividends Declared in December and Paid in January. Ordinarily, shareholders are required to take distributions by the Fund into account in the year in which the distributions are made. However, dividends declared in October, November or December of any year and payable to shareholders of record on a specified date in such a month will be deemed to have been received by the shareholders (and made by the Fund) on December 31 of such calendar year if such dividends are actually paid in January of the following year. Shareholders will be advised annually as to the U.S. federal income tax consequences of distributions made (or deemed made) during the year in accordance with the guidance that has been provided by the IRS.

Medicare Tax. A 3.8% Medicare tax is imposed on net investment income earned by certain individuals, estates and trusts. "Net investment income," for these purposes, means investment income, including ordinary dividends and capital gain distributions received from a Fund and net gains from redemptions or other taxable dispositions of Fund shares, reduced by the deductions properly allocable to such income. In the case of an individual, the tax will be imposed on the lesser of (1) the shareholder's net investment income or (2) the amount by which the shareholder's modified adjusted gross income exceeds \$250,000 (if the shareholder is married and filing jointly or a surviving spouse), \$125,000 (if the shareholder is married and filing separately) or \$200,000 (in any other case). This Medicare tax, if applicable, is reported by you on, and paid with, your federal income tax return.

Sales, Exchanges and Redemptions of Fund Shares. Sales, exchanges and redemptions (including redemptions in kind) of Fund shares are taxable transactions for federal and state income tax purposes. If you redeem your Fund shares, the IRS requires you to report any gain or loss on your redemption. If you held your shares as a capital asset, the gain or loss that you realize will be a capital gain or loss and will be long-term or short-term, generally depending on how long you have held your shares. Any redemption fees you incur on shares redeemed will decrease the amount of any capital gain (or increase any capital loss) you realize on the sale. Capital losses in any year are deductible only to the extent of capital gains plus, in the case of a noncorporate taxpayer, \$3,000 of ordinary income.

Tax Basis Information. A Fund is required to report to you and the IRS annually on Form 1099-B the cost basis of shares purchased or acquired on or after January 1, 2012 where the cost basis of the shares is known by the Funds (referred to as "covered shares") and which are disposed of after that date. However, cost basis reporting is not required for certain shareholders, including shareholders investing in a Fund through a tax-advantaged retirement account, such as a 401(k) plan or an individual retirement account, or shareholders investing in a money market fund that maintains a stable net asset value.

When required to report cost basis, the Funds will calculate it using the Funds' default method of average cost, unless you instruct a Fund in writing to use a different calculation method. In general, average cost is the total cost basis of all your shares in an account divided by the total number of shares in the account. To determine whether short-term or long-term capital gains taxes apply, the IRS presumes you redeem your oldest shares first.

The IRS permits the use of several methods to determine the cost basis of mutual fund shares. The method used will determine which specific shares are deemed to be sold when there are multiple purchases on different dates at differing share prices, and the entire position is not sold at one time. The Funds do not recommend any particular method of determining cost basis, and the use of other methods may result in more favorable tax consequences for some shareholders. It is important that you consult with your tax advisor to determine which method is best for you and then notify a Fund in writing if you intend to utilize a method other than average cost for covered shares.

In addition to the Funds' default method of average cost, other cost basis methods offered by the Trust, which you may elect to apply to covered shares, include:

- Single Account Average Cost—the total cost basis of both covered shares and "noncovered shares" (as defined below) in an account are averaged to determine the basis of shares. By electing the single account average cost method, your noncovered shares will be redesignated as covered shares.
- First-In, First-Out—shares acquired first in the account are the first shares depleted.
- Last-In, First-Out—shares acquired last in the account are the first shares depleted.
- Highest In, First Out (High Cost)—shares acquired with the highest cost per share are the first shares depleted.
- Lowest In, First Out (Low Cost)—shares acquired with the lowest cost per share are the first shares depleted.
- Loss/Gain Utilization—shares with loses are depleted prior to shares with gains; short-term shares are depleted prior to long-term shares.
- Specific Lot Identification—shareholder selects which lots to deplete at the time of each disposition. Transaction amount must be in shares. If you identify an insufficient number of shares or do not make a timely identification, the transaction will default to the first-in, first-out method, unless you elect a secondary method. The secondary method options include first-in, first-out; last-in, first-out; low cost; high cost; and loss/gain utilization.

You may elect any of the available methods detailed above for your covered shares. If you do not notify a Fund in writing of your elected cost basis method upon the initial purchase into your account, the default method of average cost will be applied to your covered shares. The cost basis for covered shares will be calculated separately from any "noncovered shares" (as defined below) you may own, unless you elect single account average cost. You may change from average cost to another cost basis method for covered shares at any time if you notify a Fund in writing, but only for shares acquired after the date of the change (the change is prospective). The basis of the shares that were averaged before the change will remain averaged after the date of the change.

A Fund may also provide Fund shareholders (but not the IRS) with information concerning the average cost basis of their shares purchased prior to January 1, 2012 or shares acquired on or after January 1, 2012 for which cost basis information is not known by the Fund ("noncovered shares") in order to assist you with the calculation of gain or loss from a sale or redemption of noncovered shares. With the exception of the specific lot identification method, the Trust first depletes noncovered shares with unknown cost basis in first in, first out order and then noncovered shares with known basis in first in, first out order before applying your elected method to your remaining covered shares. If you want to deplete your shares in a different order then you must elect specific lot identification and choose the lots you wish to deplete first. Shareholders that use the average cost method for noncovered shares must make the election to use the average cost method for these shares on their federal income tax returns in accordance with Treasury regulations. This election for noncovered shares cannot be made by notifying a Fund.

A Fund will compute and report the cost basis of your Fund shares sold or exchanged by taking into account all of the applicable adjustments to cost basis and holding periods as required by the Code and Treasury regulations for purposes of reporting these amounts to you and, in the case of covered shares, to the IRS. However a Fund is not required to, and in many cases a Fund does not possess the information to, take all possible basis, holding period or other adjustments into account in reporting cost basis information to you. Therefore shareholders should carefully review the cost basis information provided by a Fund, whether this information is provided pursuant to compliance with cost basis reporting requirements for shares acquired on or after January 1, 2012, or is provided by a Fund as a service to shareholders for shares acquired prior to that date, and make any additional basis, holding period or other adjustments that are required by the Code and Treasury regulations when reporting these amounts on their federal income tax returns. Shareholders remain solely responsible for complying with all federal income tax laws when filing their federal income tax returns.

If you hold your Fund shares through a broker (or other nominee), please contact that broker (nominee) with respect to reporting of cost basis and available elections for your account.

Wash Sales. All or a portion of any loss that you realize on a redemption of your Fund shares will be disallowed to the extent that you buy other shares in the Fund (through reinvestment of dividends or otherwise) within 30 days before or after your share redemption. Any loss disallowed under these rules will be added to your tax basis in the new shares.

Redemptions at a Loss Within Six Months of Purchase. Any loss incurred on a redemption or exchange of shares held for six months or less will be treated as long-term capital loss to the extent of any long-term capital gain distributed to you by the Fund on those shares.

Conversion of shares of the Fund into other shares of the same Fund. The conversion of shares of one class of the Fund into shares of another class of the same Fund is not taxable for federal income tax purposes and no gain or loss will be reported on the transaction. This is true whether the conversion occurs automatically pursuant to the terms of the class or is initiated by the shareholder. Shareholders should consult their tax advisors regarding the state and local tax consequences of a conversion of shares.

Reportable Transactions. Under Treasury regulations, if a shareholder recognizes a loss with respect to a Fund's shares of \$2 million or more for an individual shareholder or \$10 million or more for a corporate shareholder (or certain greater amounts over a combination of years), the shareholder must file with the IRS a disclosure statement on Form 8886. The fact that a loss is reportable under these regulations does not affect the legal determination of whether the taxpayer's treatment of the loss is proper. Shareholders should consult their tax advisors to determine the applicability of these regulations in light of their individual circumstances.

Tax Treatment of Portfolio Transactions. Set forth below is a general description of the tax treatment of certain types of securities, investment techniques and transactions that may apply to a fund and, in turn, affect the amount, character and timing of dividends and distributions payable by the fund to its shareholders. This section should be read in conjunction with the discussion above under "Investment Strategies, Restrictions, and Risks" for a detailed description of the various types of securities and investment techniques that apply to a Fund.

In General. In general, gain or loss recognized by a fund on the sale or other disposition of portfolio investments will be a capital gain or loss. Such capital gain and loss may be long-term or short-term depending, in general, upon the length of time a particular investment position is maintained and, in some cases, upon the nature of the transaction. Property held for more than one year generally will be eligible for long-term capital gain or loss treatment. The application of certain rules described below may serve to alter the manner in which the holding period for a security is determined or may otherwise affect the characterization as long-term or short-term, and also the timing of the realization and/or character, of certain gains or losses.

Certain Fixed-Income Investments. Gain recognized on the disposition of a debt obligation purchased by a fund at a market discount (generally, at a price less than its principal amount) will be treated as ordinary income to the extent of the portion of the market discount which accrued during the period of time the fund held the debt

obligation unless the fund made a current inclusion election to accrue market discount into income as it accrues. (The TCJA requires certain taxpayers to recognize items of gross income for tax purposes in the year in which the taxpayer recognizes the income for financial accounting purposes. For financial accounting purposes, market discount must be accrued currently on a constant yield to maturity basis regardless of whether a current inclusion election is made. While the exact scope of this provision is not known at this time, it could cause a fund to recognize income earlier for tax purposes than would otherwise have been the case prior to the enactment of the TCJA.) If a fund purchases a debt obligation (such as a zero-coupon security or pay-in-kind security) that was originally issued at a discount, the fund generally is required to include in gross income each year the portion of the original issue discount which accrues during such year. Therefore, a fund's investment in such securities may cause the fund to recognize income and make distributions to shareholders before it receives any cash payments on the securities. To generate cash to satisfy those distribution requirements, a fund may have to sell portfolio securities that it otherwise might have continued to hold or to use cash flows from other sources such as the sale of fund shares.

Investments in Debt Obligations that are at Risk of or in Default Present Tax Issues for a Fund. Tax rules are not entirely clear about issues such as whether and to what extent a fund should recognize market discount on a debt obligation, when a fund may cease to accrue interest, original issue discount or market discount, when and to what extent a fund may take deductions for bad debts or worthless securities and how a fund should allocate payments received on obligations in default between principal and income. These and other related issues will be addressed by a fund in order to ensure that it distributes sufficient income to preserve its status as a regulated investment company.

Options, Futures, Forward Contracts, Swap Agreements and Hedging Transactions. In general, option premiums received by a fund are not immediately included in the income of the fund. Instead, the premiums are recognized when the option contract expires, the option is exercised by the holder, or the fund transfers or otherwise terminates the option (e.g., through a closing transaction). If an option written by a fund is exercised and the fund sells or delivers the underlying stock, the fund generally will recognize capital gain or loss equal to (a) the sum of the strike price and the option premium received by the fund minus (b) the fund's basis in the stock. Such gain or loss generally will be short-term or long-term depending upon the holding period of the underlying stock. If securities are purchased by a fund pursuant to the exercise of a put option written by it, the fund generally will subtract the premium received from its cost basis in the securities purchased. The gain or loss with respect to any termination of a fund's obligation under an option other than through the exercise of the option and related sale or delivery of the underlying stock generally will be short-term gain or loss depending on whether the premium income received by the fund is greater or less than the amount paid by the fund (if any) in terminating the transaction. Thus, for example, if an option written by a fund expires unexercised, the fund generally will recognize short-term gain equal to the premium received.

The tax treatment of certain futures contracts entered into by a fund as well as listed non-equity options written or purchased by the fund on U.S. exchanges (including options on futures contracts, broad-based equity indices and debt securities) may be governed by section 1256 of the Code ("section 1256 contracts"). Gains or losses on section 1256 contracts generally are considered 60% long-term and 40% short-term capital gains or losses ("60/40"), although certain foreign currency gains and losses from such contracts may be treated as ordinary in character. Also, any section 1256 contracts held by a fund at the end of each taxable year (and, for purposes of the 4% excise tax, on certain other dates as prescribed under the Code) are "marked to market" with the result that unrealized gains or losses are treated as though they were realized and the resulting gain or loss is treated as ordinary or 60/40 gain or loss, as applicable. Section 1256 contracts do not include any interest rate swap, currency swap, basis swap, interest rate cap, interest rate floor, commodity swap, equity swap, equity index swap, credit default swap, or similar agreement.

In addition to the special rules described above in respect of options and futures transactions, a fund's transactions in other derivative instruments (including options, forward contracts and swap agreements) as well as its other hedging, short sale, or similar transactions, may be subject to one or more special tax rules (including the constructive sale, notional principal contract, straddle, wash sale and short sale rules). These rules may affect whether gains and losses recognized by a fund are treated as ordinary or capital or as short-term or long-term,

accelerate the recognition of income or gains to the fund, defer losses to the fund, and cause adjustments in the holding periods of the fund's securities. These rules, therefore, could affect the amount, timing and/or character of distributions to shareholders. Moreover, because the tax rules applicable to derivative instruments are in some cases uncertain under current law, an adverse determination or future guidance by the IRS with respect to these rules (which determination or guidance could be retroactive) may affect whether a fund has made sufficient distributions, and otherwise satisfied the relevant requirements, to maintain its qualification as a regulated investment company and avoid a fund-level tax.

Certain of a fund's investments in derivatives and foreign currency-denominated instruments, and the fund's transactions in foreign currencies and hedging activities, may produce a difference between its book income and its taxable income. If a fund's book income is less than the sum of its taxable income and net tax-exempt income (if any), the fund could be required to make distributions exceeding book income to qualify as a regulated investment company. If a fund's book income exceeds the sum of its taxable income and net tax-exempt income (if any), the distribution of any such excess will be treated as (i) a dividend to the extent of the fund's remaining earnings and profits (including current earnings and profits arising from tax-exempt income, reduced by related deductions), (ii) thereafter, as a return of capital to the extent of the recipient's basis in the shares, and (iii) thereafter, as gain from the sale or exchange of a capital asset.

Foreign Currency Transactions. A fund's transactions in foreign currencies, foreign currency-denominated debt obligations and certain foreign currency options, futures contracts and forward contracts (and similar instruments) may give rise to ordinary income or loss to the extent such income or loss results from fluctuations in the value of the foreign currency concerned. This treatment could increase or decrease a fund's ordinary income distributions to you, and may cause some or all of the fund's previously distributed income to be classified as a return of capital. In certain cases, a fund may make an election to treat such gain or loss as capital.

PFIC Investments. A fund may invest in securities of foreign companies that may be classified under the Code as PFICs. In general, a foreign company is classified as a PFIC if at least one-half of its assets constitute investment-type assets or 75% or more of its gross income is investment-type income. When investing in PFIC securities, a fund intends to mark-to-market these securities under certain provisions of the Code and recognize any unrealized gains as ordinary income at the end of the fund's fiscal and excise tax years. Deductions for losses are allowable only to the extent of any current or previously recognized gains. These gains (reduced by allowable losses) are treated as ordinary income that a fund is required to distribute, even though it has not sold or received dividends from these securities. You should also be aware that the designation of a foreign security as a PFIC security will cause its income dividends to fall outside of the definition of qualified foreign corporation dividends. These dividends generally will not qualify for the reduced rate of taxation on qualified dividends when distributed to you by a fund. Foreign companies are not required to identify themselves as PFICs. Due to various complexities in identifying PFICs, a fund can give no assurances that it will be able to identify portfolio securities in foreign corporations that are PFICs in time for the fund to make a mark-to-market election. If a fund is unable to identify an investment as a PFIC and thus does not make a mark-to-market election, the fund may be subject to U.S. federal income tax on a portion of any "excess distribution" or gain from the disposition of such shares even if such income is distributed as a taxable dividend by the fund to its shareholders. Additional charges in the nature of interest may be imposed on a fund in respect of deferred taxes arising from such distributions or gains.

Investments in U.S. REITs. A U.S. REIT is not subject to federal income tax on the income and gains it distributes to shareholders. Dividends paid by a U.S. REIT, other than capital gain distributions, will be taxable as ordinary income up to the amount of the U.S. REIT's current and accumulated earnings and profits. Capital gain dividends paid by a U.S. REIT to a fund will be treated as long-term capital gains by the fund and, in turn, may be distributed by the fund to its shareholders as a capital gain distribution. Because of certain noncash expenses, such as property depreciation, an equity U.S. REIT's cash flow may exceed its taxable income. The equity U.S. REIT, and in turn a fund, may distribute this excess cash to shareholders in the form of a return of capital distribution. However, if a U.S. REIT is operated in a manner that fails to qualify as a REIT, an investment in the U.S. REIT would become subject to double taxation, meaning the taxable income of the U.S. REIT would be subject to

federal income tax at regular corporate rates without any deduction for dividends paid to shareholders and the dividends would be taxable to shareholders as ordinary income (or possibly as qualified dividend income) to the extent of the U.S. REIT's current and accumulated earnings and profits. Also, see, "Tax Treatment of Portfolio Transactions—Investment in Taxable Mortgage Pools (Excess Inclusion Income)" and "Non-U.S. Investors—Investment in U.S. Real Property" below with respect to certain other tax aspects of investing in U.S. REITs.

Investment in Non-U.S. REITs. While non-U.S. REITs often use complex acquisition structures that seek to minimize taxation in the source country, an investment by a fund in a non-U.S. REIT may subject the fund, directly or indirectly, to corporate taxes, withholding taxes, transfer taxes and other indirect taxes in the country in which the real estate acquired by the non-U.S. REIT is located. A fund's pro rata share of any such taxes will reduce the fund's return on its investment. A fund's investment in a non-U.S. REIT may be considered an investment in a PFIC, as discussed above in "PFIC Investments." Additionally, foreign withholding taxes on distributions from the non-U.S. REIT may be reduced or eliminated under certain tax treaties, as discussed above in "Taxation of the Fund—Foreign Income Tax." Also, a fund in certain limited circumstances may be required to file an income tax return in the source country and pay tax on any gain realized from its investment in the non-U.S. REIT under rules similar to those in the United States which tax foreign persons on gain realized from dispositions of interests in U.S. real estate.

Investment in Taxable Mortgage Pools (Excess Inclusion Income). Under a Notice issued by the IRS, the Code and Treasury regulations to be issued, a portion of a fund's income from a U.S. REIT that is attributable to the REIT's residual interest in a real estate mortgage investment conduit ("REMIC") or equity interests in a "taxable mortgage pool" (referred to in the Code as an excess inclusion) will be subject to federal income tax in all events. The excess inclusion income of a regulated investment company, such as a fund, will be allocated to shareholders of the regulated investment company in proportion to the dividends received by such shareholders, with the same consequences as if the shareholders held the related REMIC residual interest or, if applicable, taxable mortgage pool directly. In general, excess inclusion income allocated to shareholders (i) cannot be offset by net operating losses (subject to a limited exception for certain thrift institutions), (ii) will constitute unrelated business taxable income ("UBTI") to entities (including qualified pension plans, individual retirement accounts, 401(k) plans, Keogh plans or other tax-exempt entities) subject to tax on UBTI, thereby potentially requiring such an entity that is allocated excess inclusion income, and otherwise might not be required to file a tax return, to file a tax return and pay tax on such income, and (iii) in the case of a foreign stockholder, will not qualify for any reduction in U.S. federal withholding tax. In addition, if at any time during any taxable year a "disqualified organization" (which generally includes certain cooperatives, governmental entities, and tax-exempt organizations not subject to UBTI) is a record holder of a share in a regulated investment company, then the regulated investment company will be subject to a tax equal to that portion of its excess inclusion income for the taxable year that is allocable to the disqualified organization, multiplied by the applicable corporate income tax. The Notice imposes certain reporting requirements upon regulated investment companies that have excess inclusion income. There can be no assurance that a fund will not allocate to shareholders excess inclusion income.

These rules are potentially applicable to a fund with respect to any income it receives from the equity interests of certain mortgage pooling vehicles, either directly or, as is more likely, through an investment in a U.S. REIT. It is unlikely that these rules will apply to a fund that has a non-REIT strategy.

Investments in Partnerships and QPTPs. For purposes of the Income Requirement, income derived by a fund from a partnership that is not a QPTP will be treated as qualifying income only to the extent such income is attributable to items of income of the partnership that would be qualifying income if realized directly by the fund. While the rules are not entirely clear with respect to a fund investing in a partnership outside a master-feeder structure, for purposes of testing whether a fund satisfies the Asset Diversification Test, the fund generally is treated as owning a pro rata share of the underlying assets of a partnership. See, "Taxation of the Funds." In contrast, different rules apply to a partnership that is a QPTP. A QPTP is a partnership (a) the interests in which are traded on an established securities market, (b) that is treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, and (c) that derives less than 90% of its income from sources that satisfy the Income Requirement (e.g., because it invests in commodities). All of the net income derived by a fund from an interest in a QPTP will be

treated as qualifying income but the fund may not invest more than 25% of its total assets in one or more QPTPs. However, there can be no assurance that a partnership classified as a QPTP in one year will qualify as a QPTP in the next year. Any such failure to annually qualify as a QPTP might, in turn, cause a fund to fail to qualify as a regulated investment company. Although, in general, the passive loss rules of the Code do not apply to RICs, such rules do apply to a fund with respect to items attributable to an interest in a QPTP. Fund investments in partnerships, including in QPTPs, may result in the fund being subject to state, local or foreign income, franchise or withholding tax liabilities.

To the extent an MLP is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes (whether or not a QPTP), all or a portion of the dividends received by a fund with respect to an investment in MLPs likely will be treated as a return of capital for U.S. federal income tax purposes because of accelerated deductions available with respect to the activities of such MLPs. Further, because of these accelerated deductions, on the disposition of interests in such an MLP, a fund likely will realize taxable income in excess of economic gain with respect to those MLP interests (or if the fund does not dispose of the MLP, the fund could realize taxable income in excess of cash flow with respect to the MLP in a later period), and the fund must take such income into account in determining whether the fund has satisfied its Distribution Requirement. A fund may have to borrow or liquidate securities to satisfy its Distribution Requirement and to meet its redemption requests, even though investment considerations might otherwise make it undesirable for the fund to sell securities or borrow money at such time. In addition, any gain recognized, either upon the sale of a fund's MLP interest or sale by the MLP of property held by it, including in excess of economic gain thereon, treated as so-called "recapture income," will be treated as ordinary income. Therefore, to the extent a fund invests in MLPs, fund shareholders might receive greater amounts of distributions from the fund taxable as ordinary income than they otherwise would in the absence of such MLP investments.

Although MLPs are generally expected to be treated as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes, some MLPs may be treated as PFICs, controlled foreign corporations, or "regular" corporations for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The treatment of particular MLPs for U.S. federal income tax purposes will affect the extent to which a fund can invest in MLPs and will impact the amount, character, and timing of income recognized by the Fund. The U.S. federal income tax consequences of a fund's investments in PFICs are discussed above.

Securities Lending. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the Mid-Cap Value Fund, the Small/Mid Cap Impact Value Fund and the Impact Growth Fund engaged in securities lending. While securities are loaned out by a fund, the fund generally will receive from the borrower amounts equal to any dividends or interest paid on the borrowed securities. For federal income tax purposes, payments made "in lieu of" dividends are not considered dividend income. These distributions will neither qualify for the reduced rate of taxation for individuals on qualified dividends nor the 50% dividends-received deduction for corporations. Also, any foreign tax withheld on payments made "in lieu of" dividends or interest will not qualify for the pass-through of foreign tax credits to shareholders. Additionally, in the case of a fund with a strategy of investing in tax-exempt securities, any payments made "in lieu of" tax-exempt interest will be considered taxable income to the fund, and thus, to the investors, even though such interest may be tax-exempt when paid to the borrower. As of the date of this SAI, the Funds no longer engage in securities lending activities.

For the most recent fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the Funds' securities lending activities resulted in the following:

			Global Tactical Allocation Fund	Mid-Cap Value Fund	Small/Mid- Cap Impact Value Fund	Impact Growth Fund
(i)	Gross income from securities lending activities (including income from cash collateral reinvestment, negative rebates (<i>i.e.</i> , those paid by the borrower to the lender), loan fees paid by borrowers when collateral is noncash, management fees from a pooled cash collateral reinvestment vehicle that are deducted from the vehicle's assets before income is					
	distributed, and any other income)	\$	0	14,386.06	49,896.54	90,008.79
(ii)	Fees and/or compensation for securities lending activities and related services Fees paid to securities lending agent from a revenue split Fees paid for any cash collateral management service (including fees deducted from a pooled cash collateral reinvestment vehicle) that are not included in the revenue split	\$	0	927.64 277.08	3,065.71 926.45	2,192.65 1,955.33
	Administrative fees not included in revenue split	\$	-	-	-	-
	Indemnification fee not included in revenue split	\$	-	-	-	-
	Rebates (paid to borrower)	\$	0	10,286.12	36,486.28	79,001.73
(iii)	Other fees not included in revenue split Aggregate fees/compensation for securities lending activities	\$ \$	- 0	11,490.84	40,478.44	83,149.71
		φ		*	,	
Net	income from securities lending activities (i) - (iii)	\$	0	2,895.22	9,418.10	6,859.08

Investments in Convertible Securities. Convertible debt is ordinarily treated as a "single property" consisting of a pure debt interest until conversion, after which the investment becomes an equity interest. If the security is issued at a premium (i.e., for cash in excess of the face amount payable on retirement), the creditor-holder may amortize the premium over the life of the bond. If the security is issued for cash at a price below its face amount, the creditor-holder must accrue original issue discount in income over the life of the debt. The creditor-holder's exercise of the conversion privilege is treated as a nontaxable event. Mandatorily convertible debt (e.g., an exchange traded note or ETN issued in the form of an unsecured obligation that pays a return based on the performance of a specified market index, exchange currency, or commodity) is often, but not always, treated as a contract to buy or sell the reference property rather than debt. Similarly, convertible preferred stock with a mandatory conversion feature is ordinarily, but not always, treated as equity rather than debt. Dividends received generally are qualified dividend income and eligible for the corporate dividends-received deduction. In general, conversion of preferred stock for common stock of the same corporation is tax-free. Conversion of preferred stock for cash is a taxable redemption. Any redemption premium for preferred stock that is redeemable by the issuing company might be required to be amortized under original issue discount principles.

Investments in Securities of Uncertain Tax Character. A fund may invest in securities the U.S. federal income tax treatment of which may not be clear or may be subject to recharacterization by the IRS. To the extent the tax treatment of such securities or the income from such securities differs from the tax treatment expected by a fund, it could affect the timing or character of income recognized by the fund, requiring the fund to purchase or sell securities, or otherwise change its portfolio, in order to comply with the tax rules applicable to regulated investment companies under the Code.

Backup Withholding. By law, a Fund may be required to withhold a portion of your taxable dividends and sales proceeds unless you:

- · provide your correct social security or taxpayer identification number,
- certify that this number is correct,
- certify that you are not subject to backup withholding, and
- certify that you are a U.S. person (including a U.S. resident alien).

A Fund also must withhold if the IRS instructs it to do so. When withholding is required, the amount will be 24% of any distributions or proceeds paid. Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld may be credited against the shareholder's U.S. federal income tax liability, provided the appropriate information is furnished to the IRS. Certain payees and payments are exempt from backup withholding and information reporting. The special U.S. tax certification requirements applicable to non-U.S. investors to avoid backup withholding are described under the "Non-U.S. Investors" heading below.

Non-U.S. Investors. Non-U.S. investors (shareholders who, as to the United States, are nonresident alien individuals, foreign trusts or estates, foreign corporations, or foreign partnerships) may be subject to U.S. withholding and estate tax and are subject to special U.S. tax certification requirements. Non-U.S. investors should consult their tax advisors about the applicability of U.S. tax withholding and the use of the appropriate forms to certify their status.

In General. The United States imposes a flat 30% withholding tax (or a withholding tax at a lower treaty rate) on U.S. source dividends, including on income dividends paid to you by a Fund subject to certain exemptions described below. However, notwithstanding such exemptions from U.S. withholding at the source, any dividends and distributions of income and capital gains, including the proceeds from the sale of your Fund shares, will be subject to backup withholding at a rate of 24% if you fail to properly certify that you are not a U.S. person.

Capital Gain Dividends. In general, capital gain dividends reported by a Fund to shareholders as paid from its net long-term capital gains, other than long –term capital gains realized on disposition of U.S. real property interests (see the discussion below), are not subject to U.S. withholding tax unless you are a nonresident alien individual present in the United States for a period or periods aggregating 183 days or more during the calendar year.

Short-Term Capital Gain Dividends and Interest-Related Dividends. Generally, short-term capital gain dividends reported by the Fund to shareholders as paid from its net short-term capital gains, other than short-term capital gains realized on disposition of U.S. real property interests (see the discussion below), are not subject to U.S. withholding tax unless you were a nonresident alien individual present in the United States for a period or periods aggregating 183 days or more during the calendar year.

Dividends reported by the Fund to shareholders as interest-related dividends and paid from its qualified net interest income from U.S. sources are not subject to U.S. withholding tax. "Qualified interest income" includes, in general, U.S. source (1) bank deposit interest, (2) short-term original discount, (3) interest (including original issue discount, market discount, or acquisition discount) on an obligation that is in registered form, unless it is earned on an obligation issued by a corporation or partnership in which the Fund is a 10-percent shareholder or is contingent interest, and (4) any interest-related dividend from another regulated investment company.

A Fund reserves the right to not report amounts of short-term capital gain dividends or interest-related dividends. Additionally, a Fund's reporting of short-term capital gain dividends or interest-related dividends may not be passed through to shareholders by intermediaries who have assumed tax reporting responsibilities for this income in managed or omnibus accounts due to systems limitations or operational constraints.

Net Investment Income from Dividends on Stock and Foreign Source Interest Income Continue to be Subject to Withholding Tax; Foreign Tax Credits. Ordinary dividends paid by a Fund to non-U.S. investors on the income earned on portfolio investments in: (i) the stock of domestic and foreign corporations and (ii) the debt of foreign issuers continue to be subject to U.S. withholding tax. Foreign shareholders may be subject to U.S. withholding tax at a rate of 30% on the income resulting from an election to pass-through foreign tax credits to shareholders, but may not be able to claim a credit or deduction with respect to the withholding tax for the foreign tax treated as having been paid by them.

Income Effectively Connected with a U.S. Trade or Business. If the income from a Fund is effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business, carried on by a foreign shareholder, then ordinary income dividends, capital gain dividends and any gains realized upon the sale or redemption of shares of the Fund will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at the rates applicable to U.S. citizens or domestic corporations and require the filing of a nonresident U.S. income tax return.

Investment in U.S. Real Property. The Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980 ("FIRPTA") makes non-U.S. persons subject to U.S. tax on disposition of a U.S. real property interest ("USRPI") as if he or she were a U.S. person. Such gain is sometimes referred to as FIRPTA gain. A Fund may invest in equity securities of corporations that invest in USRPI, including U.S. REITs, which may trigger FIRPTA gain to the Fund's non-U.S. shareholders.

- The Code provides a look-through rule for distributions of FIRPTA gain when a RIC is classified as a qualified investment entity. A RIC will be classified as a qualified investment entity if, in general, 50% or more of the RIC's assets consist of interests in U.S. REITs and other U.S. real property holding corporations ("USRPHC"). If a RIC is a qualified investment entity and the non-U.S. shareholder owns more than 5% of a class of Fund shares at any time during the one-year period ending on the date of the FIRPTA distribution, the FIRPTA distribution to the non-U.S. shareholder is treated as gain from the disposition of a USRPI, causing the distribution to be subject to U.S. withholding tax at the applicable corporate income tax rate (unless reduced by future regulations), and requiring the non-U.S. shareholder to file a nonresident U.S. income tax return.
- In addition, even if the non-U.S. shareholder does not own more than 5% of a class of Fund shares, but the Fund is a qualified investment entity, the FIRPTA distribution will be taxable as ordinary dividends (rather than as a capital gain or short-term capital gain dividend) subject to withholding at 30% or lower treaty rate.

Because each Fund expects to invest less than 50% of its assets at all times, directly or indirectly in U.S. real property interests, the Funds expect that neither gain on the sale or redemption of Fund shares nor Fund dividends and distributions would be subject to FIRPTA reporting and tax withholding.

U.S. Estate Tax. Transfers by gift of shares of a Fund by a foreign shareholder who is a nonresident alien individual will not be subject to U.S. federal gift tax. An individual who, at the time of death, is a non-U.S. shareholder will nevertheless be subject to U.S. federal estate tax with respect to Fund shares at the graduated rates applicable to U.S. citizens and residents, unless a treaty exemption applies. If a treaty exemption is available, a decedent's estate may nonetheless need to file a U.S. estate tax return to claim the exemption in order to obtain a U.S. federal transfer certificate. The transfer certificate will identify the property (i.e., Fund shares) as to which the U.S. federal estate tax lien has been released. In the absence of a treaty, there is a \$13,000 statutory estate tax credit (equivalent to U.S. situs assets with a value of \$60,000). For estates with U.S. situs assets of not more than \$60,000, a Fund may accept, in lieu of a transfer certificate, an affidavit from an appropriate individual evidencing that decedent's U.S. situs assets are below this threshold amount.

U.S. Tax Certification Rules. Special U.S. tax certification requirements may apply to non-U.S. shareholders both to avoid U.S. backup withholding imposed at a rate of 24% and to obtain the benefits of any treaty between the United States and the shareholder's country of residence. In general, if you are a non-U.S. shareholder, you must provide a Form W-8 BEN (or other applicable Form W-8) to establish that you are not a U.S. person, to

claim that you are the beneficial owner of the income and, if applicable, to claim a reduced rate of, or exemption from, withholding as a resident of a country with which the United States has an income tax treaty. A Form W-8 BEN provided without a U.S. taxpayer identification number will remain in effect for a period beginning on the date signed and ending on the last day of the third succeeding calendar year unless an earlier change of circumstances makes the information on the form incorrect. Certain payees and payments are exempt from backup withholding.

The tax consequences to a non-U.S. shareholder entitled to claim the benefits of an applicable tax treaty may be different from those described herein. Non-U.S. shareholders are urged to consult their own tax advisors with respect to the particular tax consequences to them of an investment in a Fund, including the applicability of foreign tax.

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act ("FATCA"). Under FATCA, a Fund will be required to withhold a 30% tax on the following payments or distributions made by the Fund to certain foreign entities, referred to as foreign financial institutions ("FFI") or nonfinancial foreign entities ("NFFE"): (a) income dividends and (b) after December 31, 2018, certain capital gain distributions, return of capital distributions and the proceeds arising from the sale of Fund shares. The FATCA withholding tax generally can be avoided: (a) by an FFI, if it reports certain direct and indirect ownership of foreign financial accounts held by U.S. persons with the FFI and (b) by an NFFE, if it: (i) certifies that it has no substantial U.S. persons as owners or (ii) if it does have such owners, reporting information relating to them. The U.S. Treasury has negotiated intergovernmental agreements ("IGA") with certain countries and is in various stages of negotiations with a number of other foreign countries with respect to one or more alternative approaches to implement FATCA; an entity in one of those countries may be required to comply with the terms of an IGA instead of U.S. Treasury regulations.

An FFI can avoid FATCA withholding if it is deemed compliant or by becoming a "participating FFI," which requires the FFI to enter into a U.S. tax compliance agreement with the IRS under section 1471(b) of the Code ("FFI agreement") under which it agrees to verify, report and disclose certain of its U.S. accountholders and meet certain other specified requirements. The FFI will either report the specified information about the U.S. accounts to the IRS, or, to the government of the FFI's country of residence (pursuant to the terms and conditions of applicable law and an applicable IGA entered into between the U.S. and the FFI's country of residence), which will, in turn, report the specified information to the IRS. An FFI that is resident in a country that has entered into an IGA with the U.S. to implement FATCA will be exempt from FATCA withholding provided that the FFI shareholder and the applicable foreign government comply with the terms of such agreement.

An NFFE that is the beneficial owner of a payment from a Fund can avoid the FATCA withholding tax generally by certifying that it does not have any substantial U.S. owners or by providing the name, address and taxpayer identification number of each substantial U.S. owner. The NFFE will report the information to a Fund or other applicable withholding agent, which will, in turn, report the information to the IRS.

Such foreign shareholders also may fall into certain exempt, excepted or deemed compliant categories as established by U.S. Treasury regulations, IGAs and other guidance regarding FATCA. An FFI or NFFE that invests in a Fund will need to provide the Fund with documentation properly certifying the entity's status under FATCA in order to avoid FATCA withholding. Non-U.S. investors should consult their own tax advisors regarding the impact of these requirements on their investment in a Fund. The requirements imposed by FATCA are different from and in addition to, the U.S. tax certification rules to avoid backup withholding described above. Shareholders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the application of these requirements to their own situation.

Effect of Future Legislation; Local Tax Considerations. The foregoing general discussion of U.S. federal income tax consequences is based on the Code and the regulations issued thereunder as in effect on the date of this Statement of Additional Information. Future legislative or administrative changes, including provisions of current law that sunset and thereafter no longer apply, or court decisions may significantly change the conclusions expressed herein, and any such changes or decisions may have a retroactive effect with respect to the transactions contemplated herein. Rules of state and local taxation of ordinary income, qualified dividend income and capital gain dividends may differ from the rules for U.S. federal income taxation described above. Distributions may also be subject to additional state, local and foreign taxes depending on each shareholder's particular situation. Non-U.S. shareholders may be subject to U.S. tax rules that differ significantly from those summarized above. Shareholders are urged to consult their tax advisors as to the consequences of these and other state and local tax rules affecting investment in a Fund.

PERFORMANCE INFORMATION

To obtain the Funds' most current performance information, please visit www.quakerfunds.com. Performance quotations represent the Funds' past performance and should not be considered as representative of future results. The Funds will calculate their performance in accordance with the requirements of the rules and regulations under the 1940 Act, or any other applicable U.S. securities law, as they may be revised from time to time by the SEC.

DESCRIPTION OF SHARES

Capitalization. The Trust currently has authorized, and allocated to each Class of each Fund, an unlimited number of shares of beneficial interest with no par value. All shares are, when issued in accordance with the Trust's registration statement (as amended from time to time), governing instruments and applicable law, fully paid, and nonassessable. Shareholders do not have preemptive rights. All shares of a Fund represent an undivided proportionate interest in the assets of such Fund. Shareholders of the Funds' Institutional Class shares may not vote on any matter that affects the Funds' Advisor Class distribution plan under Rule 12b-1. Similarly, as a general matter, shareholders of the Advisor Class shares may vote only on matters affecting their Class. Except for the foregoing, each share Class has the same voting and other rights and preferences as the other Classes of a Fund. General expenses of each Fund will be allocated on a pro rata basis to the classes according to asset size, except that expenses of the Advisor Class shares' Rule 12b-1 Plan will be allocated solely to that Class. Effective October 1, 2018, the Fund's Class C shares were converted into Advisor Class shares.

Noncumulative Voting. The Trust's shares have noncumulative voting rights, meaning that the holders of more than 50% of the shares of the Trust voting for the election of Trustees can elect all of the Trustees if they choose to do so, and, in such event, the holders of the remaining shares will not be able to elect any Trustees.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audited financial statements of each Fund for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 and the reports of the Funds' are included in the 2018 Annual Reports to Shareholders and are incorporated by reference in this SAI.

PRINCIPAL HOLDERS OF SECURITIES

As of August 31, 2018, all Trustees and Officers of the Funds as a group owned beneficially or of record less than 1% of the outstanding securities of any class of any Fund, except as follows:

Fund		Class	Ownership	
		Institutional		
1.	Quaker Small/Mid-Cap Impact Value Fund	Class	2.04%	

The following tables list the holders of record of five percent or more of the outstanding shares of each Fund as of August 31, 2018. A shareholder that owns more than 25% of the shares of a Fund is a "control person" of that Fund. Shareholders with a controlling interest could affect the outcome of voting or the direction of management.

Global Tactical Allocation Fund

Class	Registration	% of Shares	Record or Beneficial
Advisor Class (formerly Class A)	Pershing LLC P.O. Box 2052 Jersey City, NJ 07303-2052	14.43%	Record
	National Financial Services LLC 499 Washington Blvd Jersey City, NJ 07310-1995	12.90%	Record
	RBC Capital Markets LLC 1927 1 st Ave. N, Floor 9 Birmingham, AL 35203	5.75%	Record
	RBC Capital Markets LLC 60 S 6 th Street Minneapolis, MN 55402	5.25%	Record
Institutional Class	Wells Fargo Clearing Services, LLC Special Custody A/C FBO Customers 2801 Market Street Saint Louis, MO 63103-2523	90.57%	Record

Mid-Cap Value Fund

Class	Registration	% of Shares	Record or Beneficial
Advisor Class (formerly Class A)	National Financial Services, LLC 499 Washington Blvd. Jersey City, NJ 07310-1995	19.48%	Record
	Pershing LLC P.O. Box 2052 Jersey City, NJ 07303-2052	15.17%	Record
	MG Trust Company Cust. FBO Kades-Margolis 403B MBD 717 17 th Street, Suite 1300 Denver, CO 80202-3304	8.52%	Record
	Wells Fargo Clearing Services, LLC Special Custody A/C FBO Customer 2801 Market St. Saint Louis, MO 63103-2523	6.31%	Record

Mid-Cap Value Fund (continued)

Class	Registration	% of Shares	Record or Beneficial
Advisor Class (formerly Class A)	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc. Special Custody A/C FBO Customers Attn: Mutual Funds 211 Main Street San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	6.12%	Record
	LPL Financial 9785 Towne Centre Dr. San Diego, CA 92121-1968	5.60%	Record
Institutional Class	Wells Fargo Clearing Services, LLC Special Custody A/C FBO Customers 2801 Market Street Saint Louis, MO 63103-2523	65.37%	Record
	RBC Capital Markets LLC 1901 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 1400 Century City, CA 90067	9.67%	Record
	Janney Montgomery Scott LLC 1767 Sentry Pkwy, Suite 110 Blue Bell, PA 19422	8.57%	Record
	LPL Financial Omnibus Customer Account 4707 Executive Dr. San Diego, CA 92121-3091	5.51%	Record

Small/Mid-Cap Impact Value Fund

Class	Registration	% of Shares	Record or Beneficial
Advisor Class (formerly Class A)	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc. Special Custody A/C FBO Customers 211 Main Street San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	41.12%	Record
	Wells Fargo Clearing Services, LLC Special Custody A/C FBO Customers 2801 Market Street Saint Louis, MO 63103-2523	8.01%	Record
	Graci Charlotte, NC 28226-6465	7.41%	Beneficial
	MG Trust Company Cust. FBO Kades-Margolis 403B MBD 717 17 th Street, Suite 1300 Denver, CO 80202-3304	6.43%	Record

Small/Mid-Cap Impact Value Fund (continued)

Class	Registration	% of Shares	Record or Beneficial
Advisor Class (formerly Class A)	Pershing LLC P.O. Box 2052 Jersey City, NJ 07303-2052	6.16%	Record
	U.S. Bank N.A. Custodian P Hilton San Jose, CA 95120-4527	5.35%	Record
	U.S. Bank N.A. Custodian J Ruvolo San Jose, CA 95120-4527	5.35%	Record
Institutional Class	M Ortiz Penn Valley, PA 19072-1239	69.77%	Beneficial
	Merrill Lynch Pierce Fenner & Smith FBO Customers 4800 Deer Lake Dr. E. Jacksonville, FL 32246-6484	7.62%	Record

Impact Growth Fund

Class	Registration	% of Shares	Record or Beneficial
Advisor Class (formerly Class A)	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc. Special Custody A/C FBO Customers 211 Main Street San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	24.77%	Record
	National Financial Services, LLC 499 Washington Blvd. Jersey City, NJ 07310-1995	23.52%	Record
	MG Trust Company Cust. FBO Kades-Margolis 403B MBD 717 17 th Street, Suite 1300 Denver, CO 80202-3304	5.95%	Record
	Pershing LLC P.O. Box 2052 Jersey City, NJ 07303-2052	5.56%	Record
Institutional Class	LPL Financial Omnibus Customer Account 4707 Executive Dr. San Diego, CA 92121-3091	40.02%	Record

Impact Growth Fund (continued)

Class	Registration	% of Shares	Record or Beneficial
Institutional Class	National Financial Services, LLC 499 Washington Blvd. Jersey City, NJ 07310-1995	14.20%	Record
	Wells Fargo Clearing Services, LLC Special Custody A/C FBO Customers 2801 Market Street Saint Louis, MO 63103-2523	13.65%	Record
	Charles Schwab & Co. Inc. Special Custody A/C FBO Customers 211 Main Street San Francisco, CA 94105-1905	6.80%	Record